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22 August 2012 

Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund (ASX: BAO)  

Annual Results 2012 and Proposed Fund Wind Up 

 

 

Brookfield Capital Management Limited (BCML) as Responsible Entity for Brookfield Australian 

Opportunities Fund (BAO or the Fund) announces the Fund’s annual results for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2012 and a proposal regarding wind up of the Fund. 

 

Key messages in this announcement are:  

 

 A meeting of unitholders will be held on 24 September 2012 to consider a proposal to wind up the 
Fund; 

 the Fund recorded a consolidated net loss of $3.9 million (30 June 2011: net loss of $0.8 million); 

 the Fund recorded a standalone (excluding Multiplex Property Income Fund) net profit of $0.8 
million (30 June 2011: net loss of $2.1 million); 

 Fund net assets on a standalone basis were $112.0 million or $0.14 per unit as at 30 June 2012 
(30 June 2011: $109.5 million or $0.13 per unit);  

 the Fund is in compliance with its debt covenants; and 

 no distribution was declared during the year. The distribution stopper arising from the investment 
in Multiplex Property Income Fund (MPIF) remained in place as at 30 June 2012. 

 

Proposed wind up of the Fund 

 

Following the voting down of the BAO/MPIF restructure proposals by MPIF unitholders late last year, 

BCML undertook to consider further possible options for BAO. After a detailed review, it has become 

apparent that continuation of BAO in its current form does not adequately meet the Fund’s stated 

objectives, with the prospect of ongoing detrimental effects for unitholders. Accordingly, BCML has 

determined that a proposal should now be put to BAO unitholders for a winding up of the Fund. 

 

For this purpose, BCML announces that a meeting of Fund unitholders will be held on 24 September 

2012 to consider two resolutions for the winding up of the Fund. 

 

The first resolution asks unitholders to approve a winding up proposal which includes: 

 immediate sale of most of the Fund’s listed assets and reduction of the Fund’s debt facility;  

 remaining assets and debt to be transferred to an unlisted registered managed investment 
scheme (BAO Trust), whose units will be distributed to unitholders as part of the wind up; 

 payment of approximately $3.0 million to MPIF income unitholders (in accordance with the 
MPIF distribution stopper); 

 a cash distribution by BAO Trust of 1.5 cents per unit to each unitholder in BAO Trust at the 
relevant record date for that distribution; and 

 delisting and wind up of the Fund. 

 

Following the wind up and cash distribution, BAO Trust will own assets with a net value of 

approximately 11.9 cents per unit (utilising the valuation of those assets in the Fund as at 30 June 



 

 

 

2012). The trust will be managed so as to seek to maximise and ultimately realise its investments over 

time and, after repayment of the debt facility, return all net capital receipts to unitholders. Quarterly 

distributions will be made in the interim as available. No new investments will be undertaken by BAO 

Trust. 

 

The second resolution asks unitholders to approve the sale of the Fund’s holding in Brookfield Prime 

Property Fund to Brookfield Group for consideration of approximately $10.6 million, which will be used 

to further reduce the Fund’s debt facility. The second resolution will only be considered if the first 

resolution has been approved by unitholders. 

 

The wind up proposal is subject to a number of conditions, including BAO Trust being registered as a 

managed investment scheme and ASX de-listing approval. Full details of the meeting and resolutions 

to be considered, including advantages and disadvantages, are provided in the Notice of Meeting and 

Explanatory Memorandum released to ASX today and which will be mailed to all unitholders this week. 

For questions in relation to the proposal, contact details are as set out in the Explanatory 

Memorandum. 

 

Performance of the Fund’s underlying investments 

 

The standalone investment portfolio of the Fund was valued at $126.5 million as at 30 June 2012 

compared to $138.5 million as at 30 June 2011. The cash balance of the Fund was $18.3 million.  

 

Unlisted investments were valued at $97.9 million at 30 June 2012 compared with $112.0 million at 30 

June 2011. The decrease can be attributed to participation in a number of redemption facilities, 

returns of capital and a decrease in the carrying value of the portfolio. 

 

A-REIT investments were valued at $28.6 million at 30 June 2012 compared to $26.5 million at 30 

June 2011. This increase has resulted from additional investment in the sector and an increase in the 

carrying value of the portfolio. 

 

Distribution income for the financial year was $9.0 million ($5.7 million for the year to 30 June 2011). 

The increase was mainly due to Australian Unity Fifth Commercial Trust paying a special distribution 

of approximately $1.5 million following the sale of 595 Collins Street, Melbourne and 

Multiplex European Property Fund paying $1.7 million in distributions to the Fund which was mainly as 

a result of its unwinding of a cross currency interest rate swap. 

 

Further information  

 

Further information regarding the Fund’s annual results is available in the form of an Annual Report.  It 

is recommended that investors review this document. The financial report for the year ended 30 June 

2012 is available at www.au.brookfield.com. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

http://www.au.brookfield.com/
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Message from 
the Chairman

On	behalf	of	the	Board	of	Brookfield	Capital	Management	
Limited	(BCML),	enclosed	is	the	Brookfield	Australian	
Opportunities	Fund	(the	Fund)	annual	report	for	the	financial	
year	ended	30	June	2012.

FINANCIAL	RESULTS
The	Fund	reported	a	consolidated	net	loss	of	$3.9	million	
for	the	period,	compared	with	a	loss	for	the	same	period	
to	30	June	2011	of	$0.8	million.

Key	financial	results	as	at	30	June	2012	include:

	– consolidated	net	loss	includes	$9.9	million	in	net	
impairment	losses	on	a	number	of	the	unlisted	and	listed	
property	securities	and	an	investment	accounted	for	using	
the	equity	method	(2011:	$5.4	million);

	– consolidated	reserves	increased	by	$1.8	million	and	include	
$1.6	million	of	unrealised	gains	in	respect	of	the	Fund’s	
investments	and	$0.1	million	increase	in	foreign	currency	
translation	and	other	reserves;	and

	– net	assets	on	a	Fund	standalone	basis	(excluding	
Multiplex	Property	Income	Fund)	of	approximately	
$112.0	million	with	Net	Tangible	Asset	(NTA)	per	unit	
of	$0.138	(30	June	2011:	$0.135).

In	addition	to	the	Fund’s	consolidated	accounts	included	in	the	
financial	report	as	an	appendix	are	special	purpose	standalone	
accounts	for	the	Fund,	removing	the	effect	of	Multiplex	
Property	Income	Fund.

PROPOSED	wIND	UP	OF	ThE	FUND
Following	the	voting	down	of	the	BAO/MPIF	restructure	
proposals	by	MPIF	unitholders	late	last	year,	BCML	undertook	
to	consider	further	possible	options	for	BAO.	After	a	detailed	
review,	it	has	become	apparent	that	continuation	of	BAO	in	
its	current	form	does	not	adequately	meet	the	Fund’s	stated	
objectives,	with	the	prospect	of	ongoing	detrimental	effects	
for	unitholders.	Accordingly,	BCML	has	determined	that	a	
proposal	should	now	be	put	to	BAO	unitholders	for	a	winding	
up	of	the	Fund.

For	this	purpose,	BCML	announces	that	a	meeting	of	Fund	
unitholders	will	be	held	on	24	September	2012	to	consider	
two	resolutions	for	the	winding	up	of	the	Fund.

The	first	resolution	asks	unitholders	to	approve	a	winding	
up	proposal	which	includes:

	– immediate	sale	of	most	of	the	Fund’s	listed	assets	and	
reduction	of	the	Fund’s	debt	facility;	

	– remaining	assets	and	debt	to	be	transferred	to	an	unlisted	
registered	managed	investment	scheme	(BAO	Trust),	
whose	units	will	be	distributed	to	unitholders	as	part	
of	the	wind	up;

	– payment	of	approximately	$3.0	million	to	MPIF	
income	unitholders	(in	accordance	with	the	MPIF	
distribution	stopper);

	– a	cash	distribution	by	BAO	Trust	of	1.5	cents	per	unit	
to	each	unitholder	in	BAO	Trust	at	the	relevant	record	date	
for	that	distribution;	and

	– delisting	and	wind	up	of	the	Fund.

Following	the	wind	up	and	cash	distribution,	BAO	Trust	will	
own	assets	with	a	net	value	of	approximately	11.9	cents	per	
unit	(utilising	the	valuation	of	those	assets	in	the	Fund	as	
at	30	June	2012).	BAO	Trust	will	be	managed	so	as	to	seek	
to	maximise	and	ultimately	realise	its	investments	over	
time	and,	after	repayment	of	the	debt	facility,	return	all	net	
capital	receipts	to	unitholders.	Quarterly	distributions	will	be	
made	in	the	interim	as	available.	No	new	investments	will	be	
undertaken	by	BAO	Trust.

The	second	resolution	asks	unitholders	to	approve	the	sale	
of	the	Fund’s	holding	in	Brookfield	Prime	Property	Fund	
to	Brookfield	Group	for	consideration	of	approximately	
$10.6	million,	which	will	be	used	to	further	reduce	the	Fund’s	
debt	facility.	The	second	resolution	will	only	be	considered	
if	the	first	resolution	has	been	approved	by	unitholders.

The	wind	up	proposal	is	subject	to	a	number	of	conditions,	
including	BAO	Trust	being	registered	as	a	managed	
investment	scheme	and	ASX	de-listing	approval.	Full	details	
of	the	meeting	and	resolutions	to	be	considered,	including	
advantages	and	disadvantages,	are	provided	in	the	Notice	
of	Meeting	and	Explanatory	Memorandum	released	to	ASX	
and	which	will	be	mailed	to	all	unitholders.	For	questions	in	
relation	to	the	proposal,	contact	details	are	as	set	out	in	the	
Explanatory	Memorandum.

On	behalf	of	the	Board,	thank	you	for	your	ongoing	support.

F.	Allan	McDonald,	
Independent	Chairman



FUND	SNAPShOT	(as	at	30	June	2012)

Market	capitalisation $38.1 million
Closing	price $0.047
NTA	per	unit $0.138
ASX	daily	trading	volumes	(12	month	average) 181,540 
LVR	(net	debt/BAO	standalone	investment	portfolio) 15.0%
Management	fee 0.5%	(including	GST)	of	gross	asset	value
Performance	fee 20%	of	benchmark1	outperformance

1	 S&P/ASX	A-REIT	Accumulation	Index.
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Year in Review

Brookfield	Capital	Management	Limited	(BCML),	the	
Responsible	Entity	of	Brookfield	Australian	Opportunities	
Fund	(the	Fund),	provides	a	review	of	the	financial	year	
ended	30	June	2012.

FINANCIAL RESULTS
The	Fund	recorded	a	consolidated	net	loss	of	$3.9	million	for	
the	year	to	30	June	2012,	compared	to	a	consolidated	net	loss	
of	$0.8	million	for	the	year	to	30	June	2011.	This	includes	an	
impairment	loss	of	$9.9	million	from	the	revaluation	of	the	
Fund’s	unlisted	and	A-REIT	portfolio.

For	statutory	reporting	purposes,	Multiplex	Property	Income	
Fund	(MPIF)	is	consolidated	into	the	Fund’s	accounts	due	to	
its	100%	ownership	of	the	ordinary	units	in	MPIF.

On	a	standalone	basis	(excluding	MPIF),	the	Fund	recorded	
a	net	profit	of	$0.8	million	for	the	12	months	to	30	June	
2012,	compared	to	a	net	loss	of	$2.1	million	for	the	12	month	
period	to	30	June	2011.

For	purposes	of	the	financial	statements,	unrealised	gains	
are	taken	to	reserves	whilst	unrealised	losses	are	generally	
reflected	in	calculation	of	net	profit	or	loss.

On	a	standalone	basis,	reserves	increased	by	$1.7	million	
largely	due	to	a	valuation	increase	on	the	Fund’s	investments	
of	$1.6	million	and	foreign	currency	translation	reserve	of	
$0.4	million	offset	by	a	reduction	in	the	cash	flow	hedge	
reserve	of	$0.3	million.

As	at	30	June	2012,	the	NTA	per	unit	of	the	Fund,	on	a	
standalone	basis,	was	$0.138.	This	has	increased	from	
the	NTA	at	30	June	2011	of	$0.135.

On	a	standalone	basis,	the	Fund’s	investment	portfolio	has	
a	carrying	value	of	$126.5	million	as	at	30	June	2012	compared	
to	$138.4	million	at	30	June	2011.	The	standalone	cash	balance	
of	the	Fund	as	at	30	June	2012	was	$18.3	million	compared	to	
$7.8	million	at	30	June	2011.

Distribution	income	on	a	standalone	basis	for	the	12	month	
period	increased	from	$5.7	million	at	30	June	2011	to	
$9.0	million.	Excluding	one-off	distributions,	income	has	
increased	marginally.

The	Fund	is	in	compliance	with	its	debt	facility	covenants.

Portfolio 
Analysis
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DEBT POSITION
In	November	2011,	the	Fund	agreed	to	a	new	three	
year	$35	million	debt	facility	with	its	existing	financier	
(National	Australia	Bank)	subject	to	various	conditions	
including	a	Loan	to	Value	Ratio	(LVR)	limit	of	30%	and	
Interest	Cover	Ratio	(ICR)	of	at	least	1.6	times.	In	addition,	the	
Fund	entered	into	an	interest	rate	swap	for	a	two	year	period	
to	hedge	$26.25	million	(75%	of	the	facility	limit)	at	a	fixed	
rate	of	3.75%	resulting	in	an	effective	rate	of	6.75%	for	the	
hedged	amount.

As	at	30	June	2012,	the	Fund	was	in	compliance	with	its	LVR	
and	ICR	loan	covenants.

The	$20	million	investment	facility	provided	by	a	subsidiary	
of	the	Brookfield	Group	was	undrawn	as	at	30	June	2012.

CASHFLOW
The	Fund’s	standalone	opening	cashflow	was	$7.8	million	and	
closing	cashflow	was	$18.3	million	as	at	30	June	2012.

Major	cash	inflows	during	the	12	month	period	included:

	– participation	in	redemption	facilities:	$4.0	million;
	– returns	of	capital	from	the	unlisted	portfolio:	$4.8	million;	

and
	– total	distribution	income	from	underlying	investments:	

$8.9	million.

Major	cash	outflows	during	the	12	month	period	included:

	– financing	costs:	$3.4	million;
	– repayment	of	financing	facility:	$2.1	million;	and	
	– management	fees	and	operating	expenses:	$2.0	million.

30 JUNE 2012
$M

31 DECEMBER 2011 
$M

30 JUNE 2011 
$M

Reported	consolidated	net	assets 146.3 146.9 150.5

MPIF	net	assets (34.3) (36.6) (41.0)
BAO	standalone	net	assets 112.0 110.3 109.5
Units	on	issue	(millions) 811.4 811.4 811.4
NTA	per	unit 0.138 $0.136 $0.135

NET	TANGIBLE	ASSET	(NTA)
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Year in Review

MULTIPLEX PROPERTY INCOME FUND (MPIF)
The	distribution	stopper	arising	from	the	Fund’s	investment	in	
MPIF	remains	in	effect.	The	Fund	did	not	declare	a	distribution	
for	the	period.	The	Fund	owns	100%	of	ordinary	units	in	MPIF.

Income	unitholders	in	MPIF	have	a	targeted	monthly	priority	
distribution	payment	(PDP).	In	circumstances	where	MPIF	
distributes	less	than	the	PDP,	the	Fund	is	prevented	from	
making	distributions	to	its	unitholders	unless	the	shortfall	
has	been	met.	The	distribution	stopper	will	remain	in	place	
until	any	shortfall	in	the	PDP	for	the	preceding	12	months	has	
been	paid	to	income	unitholders	of	MPIF.	The	PDP	shortfall	
for	the	12	months	to	30	June	2012	was	$2.4	million.

The	graph	below	shows	distribution	shortfall	movement	
to	the	level	of	the	PDP	from	September	2009	to	June	2012.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO UPDATE
The	Fund’s	total	investment	portfolio	on	a	standalone	basis	
was	valued	at	$126.5	million	as	at	30	June	2012	compared	to	
$138.4	million	as	at	30	June	2011.

A-REIT	investments
The	standalone	carrying	value	of	the	Fund’s	A-REIT	
portfolio	increased	from	$26.5	million	to	$28.6	million	during	
the	twelve	months	to	30	June	2012.	This	is	partly	a	result	of	a	
net	increase	of	$0.2	million	through	acquisition	and	disposal	
of	securities	and	a	$1.8	million	net	gain	in	the	portfolio	value.

Major	value	gains	were	recorded	by	Brookfield	Prime	Property	
of	26%	and	Mirvac	Group	of	19%.	These	were	offset	by	the	
57%	devaluation	in	Multiplex	European	Fund	which	in	part	
reflects	a	5	cents	per	unit	(cpu)	distribution	to	investors	made	
during	the	period.	

The	A-REIT	portfolio	gross	return	for	the	12	months	to	
June	2012	was	12.5%	against	the	S&P/ASX300	A-REIT	
Accumulation	Index	gross	return	of	11.0%.
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Unlisted	investments
The	standalone	carrying	value	of	the	unlisted	portfolio	
was	$97.9	million	compared	with	$112.0	million	as	at	
30	June	2011.	The	decline	can	be	attributed	to	a	return	of	
capital	by	a	number	of	funds	($6.0	million),	participation	
in	redemption	facilities	($4.0	million)	and	a	net	decrease	
in	the	portfolio	value.	There	were	no	acquisitions	of	unlisted	
investments	during	the	12	months	to	30	June	2012.

Redemptions and return of capital
The	Fund	participated	in:

	– Australian	Unity	Office	Property	Fund’s	withdrawal	Offer	
and	received	$1.5	million	from	the	redemption	of	1.8	million	
units.	The	redemption	price	was	at	a	2.7%	discount	to	the	
Fund’s	31	December	2011	NTA;	

	– Two	Australian	Unity	Diversified	Property	Fund	withdrawal	
Offers	and	received	a	total	of	$2.5	million	for	redemption	of	
3.2	million	units.	Redemption	prices	were	generally	on	par	
with	the	fund’s	audited	NTA	at	the	time	of	redemption;	and	

	– Multiplex	Development	and	Opportunity	Fund	made	a	
return	of	capital	of	$3.8	million	($0.41	cpu)	in	October	
2011	post	the	sale	of	whiteman	Edge	and	Vale	Stages	
7	to	11.	This	contributed	to	98%	of	the	decline	in	the	
Fund’s	carrying	value	of	this	investment	from	$7.7	million	
to	$3.8	million.

Wind up of underlying funds
The	following	funds	have	either	wound	up	or	are	in	the	
process	of	winding	up:

	– Centro	MCS	22	completed	the	sale	of	Kidman	Park	
Distribution	Centre	in	June	2012	and	will	return	a	total	of	
$1.72	per	unit	of	capital	or	$0.94	million.	The	carrying	value	
of	Centro	MCS	22	at	31	December	2011	was	$1.65	per	unit.	

	– MAB	Diversified	Property	Fund	(MAB)	advised	investors	in	
February	2012	that	it	considers	that	it	would	defer	the	asset	
divestment	program	until	such	time	as	market	conditions	
improve.	To	date,	MAB	has	completed	the	sale	of	three	
Australian	and	two	New	Zealand	assets	and	has	returned	
$0.2	million	of	capital	in	the	2012	financial	year	with	a	
further	$0.3	million	to	be	paid	in	August	2012.	

	– FKP	Core	Plus	Fund	completed	the	sale	of	assets	and	two	
industrial	subdivision	sites	remain.

	– Orchard	Essential	health	Care	Trust	completed	its	wind	up	
in	July	2011.

ASSET	CLASS	ALLOCATION	(by	value) SECTOR	ALLOCATION	(by	value)

 67% Unlisted
 20% A-REITs
 13% Cash

 64% Commercial   
 19% Retail
 8% Industrial
 9% Other
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Major changes in value of Fund standalone investments
The	carrying	value	of	the	Fund’s	investment	in	the	following	
funds	increased:

	– 	Arena	Childcare	Property	Fund	(formerly	Orchard):	Subject	
to	receiving	final	valuation	reports	as	at	30	June	2012,	
the	fund	is	expecting	a	4.3%	increase	in	the	value	of	its	
property	portfolio	which	will	contribute	to	an	increase	in	
the	fund’s	NTA	from	$0.9387	per	unit	in	December	2011	
to	$1.02	per	unit.

	– Australian	Unity	Fifth	Commercial	Trust	(AUFCT)	achieved	
valuation	increases	across	its	property	portfolio	as	a	result	
of	two	new	leases	signed	during	the	December	2011	quarter	
which	contributed	to	a	9%	increase	in	the	fund’s	NTA	from	
$1.50	per	unit	at	30	June	2011	to	$1.64	per	unit	(unaudited)	
at	30	June	2012.

The	following	investment	experienced	a	major	decline	in	
carrying	value:

	– APN	Champion	Fund	has	been	written	down	to	nil	from	
$1.4	million	carrying	value	as	at	30	June	2011.	The	fund’s	
portfolio	of	16	supermarkets	across	Greece	is	in	the	process	
of	being	independently	valued	and	indications	are	that	
the	decline	in	portfolio	value	will	be	significant	enough	
to	see	a	write	down	in	the	fund’s	June	2012	NTA	to	zero.	
This	is	a	reflection	of	heavily	reduced	activity	in	the	Greek	
transaction	market	with	investors	reducing	their	exposure	
to	Greece,	retailers	suffering	under	the	austerity	regime	
and	yields	shifting	accordingly	to	reflect	the	level	at	
which	transactions	may	occur	in	such	a	market.

Future liquidity 
Centro	MCS	28	syndicate	settled	on	the	sale	its	50%	interest	
in	Perth	City	Central	in	January	2012	and	returned	$0.2	million	
of	capital.	One	asset	remains	in	the	syndicate	–	a	50%	interest	
in	Centro	Bankstown.	A	Flexible	Exit	Mechanism	is	in	place	
which	provides	investors	with	an	opportunity	to	exit	their	
investment	at	the	end	of	the	syndicate	term.	Units	will	be	
acquired,	either	with	cash,	stapled	securities	in	Centro	Retail	
Australia	or	a	combination	of	both	at	an	indicative	value	per	
unit	of	$0.915	(December	2011	NTA:	$0.87	per	unit).	A	Put	
Option	notice	will	be	sent	to	investors	in	August	2012.	

Centro	MCS	21	are	currently	engaged	in	discussions	with	
Centro	Australia	wholesale	Fund,	the	50%	co-owner	of	Centro	
Roselands	to	acquire	the	fund’s	50%	share	of	the	asset	or	to	
market	the	100%	interest	in	the	asset	to	external	parties.	The	
sale	is	expected	to	complete	during	the	second	half	of	the	2013	
financial	year	with	a	potential	return	of	capital	to	the	fund	of	
circa	$10.3	million.

MANAGER	DIVERSIFICATION	(by	value) GEOGRAPhIC	ALLOCATION	(by	value)

 31% Brookfield 
 31% Australian Unity
 10% Centro 
 4% APGR
 4% APN
 4% Colonial First State
 3% Investa  
 3% Dexus
 2% Arena
 2% Charter Hall
 2% MAB
 4% Others
 
 
 

 39%    New South Wales
 20%    New Zealand 
 12%    Western Australia
 10%    Victoria 
  7%    Queensland 
  6%    South Australia
  3%    Europe 
  2%    Australian Capital Territory 
   1%    United States 
  0%    Tasmania 

Year in Review
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Other significant investment updates
APN	Poland	Retail	Fund	held	a	unitholder	meeting	in	
September	2011,	where	unitholders	voted	in	favour	of	
extending	the	fund	for	up	to	five	years	until	December	2016,	
unless	terminated	earlier	by	APN.	Although	the	extended	term	
is	for	up	to	five	years,	APN	intends	to	convene	a	meeting	of	
unitholders	within	two	years	to	report	on	fund	progress	and	
prospects	for	recovery.	The	Fund’s	investment	in	this	fund	is	
carried	at	nil	value.

APN	National	Storage	Property	Fund	will	likely	hold	a	
unitholder	meeting	prior	to	December	2012	at	which	time	
it	will	seek	an	extension	of	the	time	it	has	to	provide	
liquidity	to	unitholders	to	30	June	2014.	APN	is	progressing	
with	the	objective	of	listing	the	fund	on	the	ASX	by	30	June	
2014.	If	conditions	are	not	conducive	to	a	successful	listing,	
APN	will	propose	pursuing	a	sale	of	the	fund’s	assets.	APN	
has	identified	significant	deeper	investor	demand	for	going	
concern	self	storage,	and	in	line	with	this	strategy,	is	currently	
in	negotiations	with	National	Storage	Operations	regarding	
the	purchase	of	the	27	self	storage	businesses	which	operate	
out	of	the	fund’s	properties.

Charter	hall	has	replaced	APGF	Management	Limited	as	the	
responsible	entity	of	PFA	Diversified	Property	Trust.	

Multiplex	New	Zealand	Property	Fund	(MNZPF)	unitholders	
are	required	to	provide	their	decision	as	to	whether	they	
wish	to	stay	invested	in	MNZPF	before	17	September	2012.	
The	fund	also	completed	the	sale	of	a	number	of	properties	
including	ASB	Bank	Centre,	Auckland	to	Auckland	Council	for	
NZ$104	million	which	settled	on	27	July	2012.	

Distribution	income
On	a	standalone	basis,	of	the	23	unlisted	investments	held	by	
the	Fund	at	30	June	2012,	13	are	paying	regular	distributions,	
seven	have	suspended	distributions	and	two	funds	are	in	the	
process	of	completing	wind	up.	The	Fund	currently	receives	
no	distributions	in	relation	to	its	ownership	of	the	ordinary	
units	in	MPIF.	Distribution	income	from	the	Fund’s	standalone	
portfolio	for	the	12	months	to	June	2012	was	$9.0	million	
compared	to	$5.7	million	for	the	12	months	to	June	2011.

The	increase	in	distribution	income	was	mainly	due	to	AUFCT	
paying	a	special	distribution	of	circa	$1.4	million	post	the	sale	
of	595	Collins	Street,	Melbourne	and	Multiplex	European	
Property	Fund	paying	total	special	distributions	of	$1.8	million	
due	to	its	unwinding	of	a	cross	currency	interest	rate	swap.

Distribution	highlights	include:

	– AUFCT	increased	its	distribution	rate	from	7.4	to	11.8	cpu	
per	annum	from	the	June	2012	quarter	as	a	reflection	of	two	
positive	lease	deals	that	were	signed	during	the	December	
2011	quarter.	This	increase	will	contribute	an	additional	
$0.3	million	of	income	per	year	to	the	Fund.

	– AUOPF	increased	its	distribution	rate	from	6.0	to	7.0	cpu	
per	annum	as	a	consequence	of	positive	lease	deals.	This	
increase	will	contribute	an	additional	$0.2	million	of	income	
per	year	to	the	Fund.

	– APN	National	Storage	Property	Trust	announced	the	sale	of	
nine	storage	property	assets,	allowing	for	full	repayment	
of	their	mezzanine	debt	facility	and	a	portion	of	senior	
debt.	The	reduction	in	financing	costs	and	the	restructure	
of	interest	rate	hedging	has	enabled	the	fund	to	increase	
distributions	from	2.0	to	6.9	cpu	per	annum,	contributing	
an	additional	$0.1	million	of	income	per	year	to	the	Fund.

	– Centro	MCS	21	forecast	income	distribution	for	financial	
year	end	2012	increased	from	1.5	to	5.0	cpu	per	annum	
reflecting	an	increase	in	rental	income	and	decline	in	debt	
costs	and	capital	expenditure	requirements.	This	will	
provide	an	additional	$0.2	million	per	annum.	

	– Arena	Childcare	Property	Fund	executed	a	new	syndicated	
facility	agreement	with	an	all-in	interest	rate	cost	of	7%,	
a	substantial	reduction	from	the	all-in	cost	of	9.4%	at	
June	2011.	The	reduction	in	interest	costs	together	with	
an	increase	in	earnings	for	financial	year	2013	has	resulted	
in	an	increase	in	distributions	from	8.25	to	8.75	cpu	which	
will	provide	an	additional	$0.2	million	per	annum.	



UNLISTED

JUNE	2012	
CARRYING	VALUE	

$M

JUNE	2011	
CARRYING	VALUE	

$M
ChANGE	

$M

DISTRIBUTION
YIELD

% 1

APN	Champion	Retail	Fund 0.0 1.4 (1.4) 0.0
APN	National	Storage	Property	Trust 1.1 1.2 (0.1) 7.3
APN	Poland	Retail	Fund 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
APN	Regional	Property	Fund 2.0 2.0 0.0 4.6
APN	Vienna	Retail	Fund 1.5 2.1 (0.6) 0.0
Arena	Child	Care	Property	Fund 3.1 2.8 0.3 8.6
Austock	Childcare	Fund 1.2 1.2 (0.0) 6.2
Australian	Unity	Diversified	Property	Fund	 5.7 8.6 (2.9) 5.7
Australian	Unity	Fifth	Commercial	Trust 12.6 11.5 1.1 7.2
Australian	Unity	Office	Property	Fund 19.6 22.1 (2.5) 8.1
Australian	Unity	Second	Industrial	Trust 1.4 1.5 (0.1) 6.5
Centro	MCS	21	Roselands	holdings	Trust 9.1 8.6 0.5 2.4
Centro	MCS	21	Roselands	Property	Trust 1.3 1.2 0.1 2.4
Centro	MCS	22	Kidman	Park	Investment	Trust2 0.0 0.1 (0.1) 0.0
Centro	MCS	22	Kidman	Park	Property	Trust2 0.0 1.1 (1.1) 0.0
Centro	MCS	28	 1.9 2.2 (0.3) 2.2
FKP	Core	Plus	Fund2 0.1 0.7 (0.6) 0.0
MAB	Diversified	Property	Trust2 3.0 3.4 (0.4) 6.6
Multiplex	Development	and	Opportunity	Fund 3.8 7.7 (3.9) 0.0
Multiplex	New	Zealand	Property	Fund3 24.5 25.3 (0.8) 0.0
Multiplex	Property	Income	Fund 0.0 0.0 (0.0) 0.0
Pengana	Credo	European	Property	Trust 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
PFA	Diversified	Property	Trust 4.7 5.5 (0.8) 8.8
Rimcorp	Property	Trust	No.	3 0.6 0.6 (0.0) 10.0
St	hilliers	Enhanced	Property	Fund	No.	2 0.7 1.1 (0.4) 0.0
The	Essential	health	Care	Trust2 0.0 0.1 (0.1) 0.0
Total/Weighted Average 97.9 111.9 (14.1) 4.5

1	 		The	distribution	yields	are	based	on	recurring	distribution	rates	as	at	30	June	2012	and	the	unlisted	property	funds’	unaudited	net	tangible	asset	values	at	30	June	2012.	The	yields	exclude	
any	special	or	one-off	distributions.

2	 At	30	June	2012	these	funds	have	either	wound	up	or	are	in	the	process	of	winding	up.	
3	 Reflects	the	value	of	the	investment	accounted	for	by	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	on	a	standalone	basis	(excludes	the	0.5%	owned	by	the	consolidated	MPIF	subsidiary).

8

Investment  
Portfolio

A	summary	of	the	Fund’s	listed	and	unlisted	investment	portfolio,	on	a	standalone	basis,	as	at	30	June	2012	and	the	distribution	
yield	per	investment	(based	on	current	carrying	values)	are	detailed	below:



A-REIT

JUNE	2012	
CARRYING	VALUE	

$M

JUNE	2011	
CARRYING	VALUE	

$M
ChANGE	

$M

DISTRIBUTION
YIELD

% 1

Abacus	Property	Group 0.2 0.3 (0.1) 8.1
Australand	Property	Group 0.0 0.3 (0.3) 0.0
Brookfield	Prime	Property	Fund 10.5 8.3 2.2 1.9
CFS	Retail	Property	Trust 0.4 0.3 0.1 6.8
Challenger	Diversified	Property	Group 0.3 0.3 (0.0) 7.6
Charter	hall	Retail	REIT 1.0 1.0 0.0 7.9
Commonwealth	Property	Office	Fund 4.2 3.9 0.3 6.0
Dexus	Property	Group 3.4 3.2 0.2 5.8
GPT	Group 0.9 0.9 0.0 6.0
Investa	Office	Fund 4.1 3.9 0.2 5.8
Mirvac	Group 2.6 1.3 1.3 7.5
Multiplex	European	Property	Fund2 1.0 2.3 (1.3) 0.0
Stockland 0.0 0.5 (0.5) n/a
Total/Weighted Average 28.6  26.5  2.1 4.5

1	 	The	distribution	yields	are	based	on	recurring	distribution	rates	as	at	30	June	2012	and	the	A-REIT’s	closing	bid	prices	as	at	30	June	2012.	The	yields	exclude	any	special	or	one-off	
distributions.	The	above	schedule	excludes	Rubicon	Europe	Trust	and	Rubicon	Japan	Trust,	both	of	which	are	insolvent	and	in	liquidation.

2	 The	carrying	value	of	the	A-REITs	are	based	on	the	close	price	at	30	June	2012.
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Multiplex New Zealand 
Property Fund 

Investment 
Profile

8	hereford	Street,	Auckland

	

DESCRIPTION
Multiplex	New	Zealand	Property	Fund	is	an	unlisted	property	
fund	that	invests	in	properties	located	in	the	North	Island	of	
New	Zealand.	In	order	to	reduce	its	debt	exposure,	the	fund	
has	disposed	of	a	number	of	its	properties	in	recent	years.	
Unitholders	in	the	fund	are	required	to	provide	their	decision	
as	to	whether	they	wish	to	stay	invested	in	MNZPF	before	
17	September	2012.	

SUMMARY		
(at	30	June	2012,	adjusted	for	the	sale	of	ASB	Bank	Centre)1

BAO	carrying	value	($M) 24.52

%	ownership	of	investment 20.1
Number	of	properties 9
Portfolio	value	($M)	–	property 254.4
weighted	average	
capitalisation	rate	(%)

8.7

weighted	average	lease	expiry	
(years)

5.6

Occupancy	rate	(%) 97.5
Major	tenants Auckland	Council,	Department	

of	Conservation,	EDS

SECTOR ALLOCATION

 70% Office
 22% Industrial
 8% Retail

GEOGRAPHIC ALLOCATION

 100% New Zealand

1	 	The	sale	of	ASB	Bank	Centre,	Auckland	to	Auckland	Council	for	NZ$104	million	settled	
on	27	July	2012.	

2	 	Reflects	the	value	of	the	investment	accounted	for	by	using	the	equity	method	
of	accounting	on	a	standalone	basis	(excludes	the	0.5%	owned	by	the	consolidated	
MPIF	subsidiary).



11

Australian Unity Office 
Property Fund

32	Phillip	Street,	Parramatta

DESCRIPTION
Australian	Unity	Office	Property	Fund	(AUOPF)	is	an	
established	office	real	estate	fund	which	holds	or	has	
interests	in	a	diversified	portfolio	of	quality	office	
buildings	across	Australia.	

AUOPF	re-opened	for	investment	applications	in	May	2012	
and	made	available	a	limited	withdrawal	offer	of	$3.7	million	
in	June	2012.

SUMMARY (at	30	June	2012)

BAO	carrying	value	($M) 19.6
%	ownership	of	investment 13.9
Number	of	properties 8
Portfolio	value	($M)	–	property 293.32
weighted	average	
capitalisation	rate	(%)

8.9

weighted	average	lease	expiry	
(years)

4.22

Occupancy	rate	(%) 93.1
Major	tenants Telstra,	State	Government,	

Commonwealth	Government

SECTOR ALLOCATION

 100% Office
 

GEOGRAPHIC ALLOCATION

 45% New South Wales
 13% Queensland
 13% Western Australia
 12% South Australia
 11% Victoria
 6% Australian Capital 
  Territory
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Australian Unity Fifth 
Commercial Trust

Investment 
Profile

30	Pirie	Street,	Adelaide

DESCRIPTION
Australian	Unity	Fifth	Commercial	Trust	(AUFCT)	is	a	fixed	
term	Trust	that	is	scheduled	to	terminate	in	2015.	The	Trust	
holds	or	has	interests	in	three	commercial	office	buildings	
located	in	Adelaide,	Perth	and	North	Ryde,	Sydney.

Australian	Unity	acquired	from	Investa	Property	Group,	the	
Responsible	Entity	for	its	retail	funds	business	in	August	2011.

SUMMARY (at	30	June	2012)

BAO	carrying	value	($M) 12.6
%	ownership	of	investment 15.3
Number	of	properties 3
Portfolio	value	($M)	–	property 110.25
weighted	average	
capitalisation	rate	(%)

8.8

weighted	average	lease	expiry	
(years)

6.63

Occupancy	rate	(%) 100.0
Major	tenants Telstra,	Contract	

Pharmaceutical,	
Commonwealth	Government

SECTOR ALLOCATION

  100% Office

GEOGRAPHIC ALLOCATION

 36% South Australia
 33% New South Wales
 31% Western Australia
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Arena Childcare 
Property Fund

76–84	Baden	Powell	Drive,	Tarneit

DESCRIPTION
Established	in	2003,	Arena	Childcare	Property	Fund	has	
invested	in	a	geographically	diversified	property	portfolio	of	
child	care	centres.

Prior	to	Morgan	Stanley	Real	Estate	Investing	acquiring	
the	Orchard	Capital	Investments	Limited	(Orchard)	funds	
management	business	in	December	2011,	this	fund	was	
known	as	the	Orchard	Childcare	Property	Fund.

SUMMARY (at	30	June	2012)

BAO	carrying	value	($M) 3.1
%	ownership	of	investment 2.3
Number	of	properties 177
Portfolio	value	($M)	–	property 226.3
weighted	average	
capitalisation	rate	(%)

9.5

weighted	average	lease	expiry	
(years)

8.9

Occupancy	rate	(%) 98.0
Major	tenants Goodstart	Early	Learning	Ltd

SECTOR ALLOCATION

  100% Childcare

GEOGRAPHIC ALLOCATION

 35% Queensland
 29% Victoria
 15% Western Australia
 14% New South Wales
 3% Tasmania
 3% South Australia
 1% Northern Territory
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ASX Additional 
Information

Additional	information	required	by	the	Australian	Securities	Exchange	Limited	Listing	Rules	and	not	disclosed	elsewhere	in	this	
report	is	set	out	below.	The	equity	holder	information	set	out	below	was	applicable	as	at	14	August	2012.

1.	SUBSTANTIAL	hOLDERS

COMPANY	NAME NO OF UNITS
% OF ISSUED  

ORDINARY UNITS

Brookfield	Asset	Management	Inc. 602,098,278 61.377
Commonwealth	Bank	of	Australia 43,234,856 5.33

2.	DISTRIBUTION	OF	ORDINARY	UNITS
Analysis	of	numbers	of	unitholders	by	size	of	holding:

UNITS UNITHOLDERS

1–1,000 23,727 86
1,001–5,000 531,480 163
5,001–10,000 1,988,627 241
10,001–100,000 35,319,376 973
100,001 and	over 773,580,510 316

811,443,720 1,779

There	were	369	holders	with	less	than	a	marketable	parcel	of	8,474	securities.	($0.059	on	14	August	2012).

3.	UNIThOLDERS
Twenty	largest	quoted	unitholders.
The twenty largest holders of ordinary units are listed below:

ORDINARY	UNITS

NAME NUMBER HELD* % OF ORDINARY UNITS

Brookfield	Capital	Securities	Limited 328,609,014 40.497
Multiplex	APF	Pty	Limited	 163,751,624 20.180
Avanteos	Investments	Limited	 26,730,058 3.294
Mr	Claudio	Paul	Marcolongo	&	Mrs	Diane	Marcolongo 24,100,000 2.970
Navigator	Australia	Ltd	 18,747,660 2.310
Avanteos	Investments	Limited	 14,929,753 1.840
Pullington	Investments	Pty	Ltd	 14,142,277 1.743
Brookfield	Multiplex	Capital	Pty	Limited 9,737,640 1.200
Avanteos	Investments	Limited	 9,177,804 1.131
Mr	Duncan	McKillop 7,441,010 0.917

Leopard	Asset	Management	Pty	Ltd	 6,000,000 0.739
National	Nominees	Limited 4,583,223 0.565
Collier	Charitable	Fund	Custodian	Corporation 4,000,000 0.493
hSBC	Custody	Nominees	(Australia)	Limited	 3,672,803 0.453
Bond	Street	Custodians	Limited	 3,621,708 0.446
horrie	Pty	Ltd 3,500,000 0.431
Pullington	Investments	Pty	Ltd 3,498,639 0.431
Favermead	Pty	Ltd	 3,274,000 0.403
Mrs	Tobey	Teresa	Robinson 3,050,000 0.376
Ms	Danita	Rae	Lowes 3,048,880 0.376
Total 655,616,093 80.796

*	 Amounts	are	pre-consolidated	units.
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4. ON-MARkET BUY-BACk
There	is	no	current	on-market	buy-back	program.

5. CLASS OF UNITS
The	only	class	of	units	on	issue	are	ordinary	units.

6. TRANSACTIONS DURING THE PERIOD
On	a	consolidated	basis,	there	were	eight	unlisted	property	security	transactions	and	6	A-REIT	transactions	during	the	period,		
with	total	brokerage	costs	of	approximately	$5,000.

7. SUMMARY OF INVESTMENTS
The	Consolidated	Entity	held	investments	in	the	following	entities:

UNLISTED UNLISTED

APN	Champion	Retail	Fund Centro	MCS	22	Kidman	Park	Property	Trust
APN	National	Storage	Property	Trust Centro	MCS	28
APN	Poland	Retail	Fund Charter	hall	Diversified	Property	Fund
APN	Regional	Property	Fund Charter	hall	Umbrella	Fund
APN	Vienna	Retail	Fund FKP	Core	Plus	Fund
Austock	Childcare	Fund MAB	Diversified	Property	Trust
Arena	Child	Care	Property	Fund Multiplex	Development	and	Opportunity	Fund
Australian	Unity	Diversified	Property	Fund	 Multiplex	New	Zealand	Property	Fund
Australian	Unity	Fifth	Commercial	Trust Pengana	Credo	European	Property	Trust
Australian	Unity	Office	Property	Fund PFA	Diversified	Property	Trust
Australian	Unity	Second	Industrial	Trust Rubicon	America	Trust
BGP	holdings	Beneficial	Interest	Share Rubicon	Europe	Trust	Group
Blackwall	Telstra	house	Trust Rimcorp	Property	Trust	No.	3
Centro	MCS	21	Roselands	holdings	Trust Rubicon	Japan	Trust
Centro	MCS	21	Roselands	Property	Trust St	hilliers	Enhanced	Property	Fund	No.	2
Centro	MCS	22	Kidman	Park	Investment	Trust Stockland	Direct	Office	Trust	No.	3
Centro	MCS	22	Kidman	Park	Property	Trust

A-REIT A-REIT

Abacus	Property	Group Charter	hall	Retail
Aspen	Property	Group Dexus	Property	Group
Blackwall	Property	Funds	Limited GPT	Group
Brookfield	Prime	Property	Fund Investa	Office	Fund
CFS	Retail	Property	Group Multiplex	European	Property	Fund
Challenger	Diversified	Property	Group Mirvac	Group
Commonwealth	Property	Office	Fund P-REIT

8. VOTING RIGHTS
Refer	to	Note	16	of	the	financial	statements	for	details	of	voting	rights.
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Investor  
Relations

ASX LISTING
Brookfield	Australian	Opportunities	Fund	is	listed	on	the		
ASX	under	the	code	BAO	(formerly	MPF).	Daily	unit	prices	
can	be	found	in	all	major	Australian	newspapers,	on	the	ASX	
website	and	at	www.au.brookfield.com.

ONLINE SERVICES
Accessing	investments	online	is	one	of	the	many	ways		
that	Brookfield	is	ensuring	convenience	and	accessibility		
to	unitholder	investment	holdings.	Links	to	the	registry	
providers	are	available	via	Brookfield	website.	Unitholders	
can	access	their	account	balance,	transaction	history	
and	distribution	details.

E-COMMUNICATIONS
The	default	for	Brookfield	annual	and	interim	reports	is	now	
electronic.	Online	versions	of	the	annual	and	interim	reports	
are	available	at	www.au.brookfield.com.

Investors	who	have	elected	to	receive	hard	copy	reports	will	
continue	to	receive	them.	Should	you	wish	to	change	your	
preference,	please	contact	the	share	registry	on	1800	766	011.

CONTACT THE REGISTRY
Queries	relating	to	individual	unit	holdings	or	requests	to	
change	investment	record	details	such	as:

	– change	of	address	(issuer	sponsored	holdings	only)
	– 	update	method	of	payment	for	receiving	distributions
	– tax	file	number	notification
	– annual	report	election

should	be	addressed	to:

Boardroom	Pty	Limited	
Level	7	
207	Kent	Street	
Sydney	NSw	2000	
Freecall:	1800	766	011	
Email:	brookfield@boardroomlimited.com.au

INVESTOR SERVICES
Investors	wishing	to	register	a	complaint	should	direct	it	to:

The	Manager	
Brookfield	
GPO	Box	172		
Sydney	NSw	2001

CONTACT US 
Brookfield	has	personnel	to	assist	with	all	investor	and	
financial	adviser	enquiries.

There	are	several	ways	of	accessing	information	about	the	
fund	and	providing	feedback	to	Customer	Service:

By	post
GPO	Box	172	
Sydney	NSw	2001

By	phone
1800	570	000	(within	Australia)	
+61	2	9322	2000	(outside	Australia)

By	fax
+61	2	9322	2001	

By	email
clientenquiries@au.brookfield.com

By	internet
The	Brookfield	website	provides	investors	with	up-to-date	
information	on	all	funds	as	well	as	reports,	media	releases,	
fund	performance,	unit	price	information	and	corporate	
governance	guidelines.

www.au.brookfield.com



RESPONSIBLE ENTITY
Brookfield	Capital	Management	Limited	
Level	22	
135	King	Street	
Sydney	NSw	2000	
Telephone:	(02)	9322	2000	
Facsimile:	(02)	9322	2001

DIRECTORS
F.	Allan	McDonald	
Barbara	ward	
Brian	Motteram	
Russell	Proutt	
Shane	Ross

COMPANY SECRETARY
Neil	Olofsson

REGISTERED OFFICE
Level	22	
135	King	Street	
Sydney	NSw	2000	
Telephone:	(02)	9322	2000	
Facsimile:	(02)	9322	2001

CUSTODIAN
JP	Morgan	Chase	Bank	N.A.	(Sydney	Branch)	
Level	18	
JP	Morgan	house	
85	Castlereagh	Street	
Sydney	NSw	2000

STOCk EXCHANGE
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Introduction 
The Directors of Brookfield Capital Management Limited (ABN 32 094 936 866), the Responsible Entity of Brookfield 
Australian Opportunities Fund (ARSN 104 341 988) (Fund), present their report together with the financial statements of the 
Consolidated Entity, being the Fund and its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Entity’s interest in associates, for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 and the Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. 

The Fund was constituted on 17 April 2003 and it was registered as a Managed Investment Scheme on 17 April 2003.  

Responsible Entity 
The Responsible Entity of the Fund is Brookfield Capital Management Limited (BCML). BCML became the Responsible Entity 
on 26 October 2007. The registered office and principal place of business of the Responsible Entity is Level 22, 135 King 
Street, Sydney NSW 2000.  

Directors 
The following persons were Directors of the Responsible Entity at any time during or since the end of the financial year: 

Name  Capacity 
F. Allan McDonald (appointed 1 January 2010) Non-Executive Independent Chairman 
Brian Motteram (appointed 21 February 2007) Non-Executive Independent Director  
Barbara Ward (appointed 1 January 2010) Non-Executive Independent Director 
Russell Proutt (appointed 1 January 2010) Executive Director 
Shane Ross (appointed 16 May 2011) Executive Director 

Information on Directors 
F. Allan McDonald (BEcon, FCPA, FAIM, FCIS), Non-Executive Independent Chairman 
Allan was appointed the Non-Executive Independent Chairman of BCML on 1 January 2010 and also performs that role for 
Brookfield Funds Management Limited (BFML). Allan has had extensive experience in the role of Chairman and is presently 
associated with a number of companies as a consultant and Company Director. BCML is also the Responsible Entity for 
listed funds Brookfield Prime Property Fund (BPA) and Multiplex European Property Fund (MUE). BFML is the Responsible 
Entity for the listed Multiplex SITES Trust. Allan’s other directorships of listed entities are Astro Japan Property Management 
Limited (Responsible Entity of Astro Japan Property Trust) (appointed February 2005), Billabong International Limited 
(appointed July 2000), and Brookfield Office Properties Inc. (appointed May 2011). During the past 3 years, Allan has also 
served as a Director of the following listed company: Ross Human Directions Limited (April 2000 – February 2011).   

Brian Motteram (BBus, CA), Non-Executive Independent Director 
Brian has in excess of 40 years of experience working in the area of finance and accounting. He has worked with 
international accounting firms, in his own private practice, and during the last 21 years in private enterprise in both the mining 
and property industries. He spent 8 years (from 1996 to 2004) as an executive of a Perth-based property company in the 
position of Chief Financial Officer and, later, as Financial Director. BCML is also the Responsible Entity for listed funds BPA 
and MUE. Brian is a fully qualified Chartered Accountant having trained with KPMG and Deloitte.  

Barbara Ward, AM (BEcon, MPolEcon, MAICD), Non-Executive Independent Director 
Barbara was appointed as a Non-Executive Independent Director of BCML on 1 January 2010 and also performs that role 
for BFML.  Barbara has gained extensive business and finance experience through her role as Chief Executive Officer of 
Ansett Worldwide Aviation Services, as General Manager Finance for the TNT Group and as a Senior Ministerial Advisor. 
BCML is also the Responsible Entity for listed funds BPA and MUE. BFML is the Responsible Entity for the listed Multiplex 
SITES Trust. Barbara is a Director of Essential Energy, Ausgrid, Endeavour Energy and Qantas Airways Limited. During the 
past 3 years Barbara has also served as a Director of Lion Nathan Limited (February 2003 to October 2009) and Chair of 
Essential Energy (June 2001 to June 2012).  

Russell Proutt (BComm, CA, CBV), Executive Director 
Russell Proutt is the Chief Financial Officer of Brookfield Australia Pty Limited and was appointed as an Executive Director of 
BCML on 1 January 2010 and also performs that role for BFML. BCML is also the Responsible Entity for the listed funds 
BPA and MUE. BFML is the Responsible Entity for the listed Multiplex SITES Trust. Russell joined Brookfield Asset 
Management Inc, the ultimate parent company of BCML, in 2006 and has held various senior management positions within 
Brookfield.  

Shane Ross (BBus), Executive Director 
Shane is the Group General Manager of Treasury for Brookfield Australia Investments Limited and was appointed as an 
Executive Director of BCML on 16 May 2011. BCML is also the Responsible Entity for BPA and MUE. Shane joined the 
organisation in 2003 following a background in banking and has over 17 years’ experience in treasury and finance within the 
property industry.  
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Information on Company Secretary 
Neil Olofsson 
Neil has over 16 years of international company secretarial experience and has been with the Brookfield Australia group 
since 2005. 

Directors’ interests 
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in the units, debentures, rights or options over such 
instruments, interests in registered schemes and rights or options over such instruments issued by the entities within the 
Consolidated Entity and other related bodies corporate as at the date of this report: 

Director 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund  

units held 
F. Allan McDonald  – 
Brian Motteram  1,645,516 
Barbara Ward  – 
Russell Proutt – 
Shane Ross – 

No options are held by/have been issued to Directors. 

Directors’ meetings 

A – Number of meetings attended. 
B – Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office during the year. 

Committee meetings 
There were no Board committee meetings held during the year other than those stated above. 

Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Consolidated Entity is the investment in Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) listed and unlisted 
property securities in Australia. 

Review of operations  
The Consolidated Entity has recorded a net loss of $3,903,000 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: $848,000).  The 
reported net loss includes $9,877,000 (2011: $5,442,000) in impairment losses on the ASX listed and unlisted property 
securities portfolios and investment accounted for using the equity method. 

Some of the significant events during the year are as follows: 
− total revenue and other income of $12,111,000 (2011: $13,272,000); 
− earnings per unit (EPU) attributable to ordinary unitholders of 0.10 cents (2011: (0.30) cents); 
− net assets of $146,266,000 (2011: $150,489,000); 
− net assets attributable to ordinary unitholders of $112,017,000 (2011: $109,516,000) and net assets per unit attributable 

to ordinary unitholders of $0.14 (2011: $0.13); 
− ASX listed portfolio value of $33,646,000 (2011: $31,209,000), including a net revaluation increment to reserves on a 

number of ASX listed investments of $2,873,000 (2011: $1,989,000) and an impairment charge of $1,459,000 (2011: 
$1,230,000); and  

− unlisted security portfolio value of $95,073,000 (2011: $119,172,000), including a net revaluation decrement to reserves 
on a number of unlisted investments of $1,226,000 (2011: increment $5,522,000) and an impairment charge of 
$8,418,000 (2011: $3,604,000). 

The strategy for the Fund will be determined by the outcome of the unitholder meeting to be held on 24 September 2012. In 
the event that unitholders approve the proposal the Fund will be wound up. 

In the event that unitholders do not approve the wind up the Fund will continue to operate so as to: 
− proactively manage the Fund’s liquidity, including debt funding, to minimise risk associated with volatility in the market 

and ensure continuing compliance with financial covenants; 
− actively manage the investment portfolio and utilise the Fund’s significant holding positions in underlying investments by 

influencing management and strategic direction to improve values and/or release capital; and 

 Board Meetings  Audit Committee Meetings Board Risk and Compliance 
Committee Meetings  

Director A B A B A B 
F. Allan McDonald 7 7 2 2 2 2 
Brian Motteram  7 7 2 2 2 2 
Barbara Ward 7 7 2 2 2 2 
Russell Proutt 7 7 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
Shane Ross 7 7 n/a n/a n/a n/a 
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Review of operations continued 
− continue to pursue opportunities in the listed and unlisted sectors and maximise returns on an appropriate risk-adjusted 

basis.  

Refinance of debt 
During the year, the Fund refinanced its existing debt facility, which was due to expire in December 2012. Key terms of the 
new debt facility are as follows: 
- Facility limit of $35 million, with maturity in November 2014 and subject to terms including the following financial 

covenants: 
o Loan to Value Ratio limit at 30%; and 
o Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.60. 

- Margin of 3% per annum over BBSY. 

In addition, the Fund has entered into an interest rate swap for a two year period to hedge $26.25 million (75% of the facility 
limit) at a fixed rate of 3.75% resulting in an effective rate of 6.75% for the hedged amount for this period. 

Acquisition of Multiplex Property Income Fund assets 
During the year, the Directors of BCML, as Responsible Entity of the Fund, made a conditional offer to BCML, as responsible 
entity of Multiplex Property Income Fund (MPIF), to buy 8 investments in unlisted property funds and 1 investment listed on 
the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now migrated to the National Stock Exchange of Australia) as held by MPIF. Following a 
unitholder vote on 22 November 2011, the offer was rejected by MPIF income unitholders and the assets remain with MPIF.  

Investment in unlisted property securities  
The Consolidated Entity invests directly in 31 unlisted property securities funds. Due to a lack of liquidity in the underlying 
investment portfolios, or due to the initial structure of the fund as detailed in their original product disclosure statements and 
constitutions, 5 have suspended redemptions, 19 have always been closed to redemptions due to the investment structure 
as outlined in their original constitutions, 3 investments were listed on the ASX but are now deemed insolvent and 4 have 
limited liquidity features meaning that the Consolidated Entity, should it want to, has limited ability to realise these 
investments due to limited or no redemption options available through these structures.   

Consistent with 30 June 2011, the Consolidated Entity has generally valued its investments in each of the underlying unlisted 
property securities funds based on the net asset value provided as at 30 June 2012, or where this has not been provided, 
the latest available net asset value. In circumstances where the latest available net asset value has not been obtained, an 
assessment of the appropriateness of the value has been made based on knowledge of valuation and transactional 
movements in the underlying investment’s structure as compared to similar portfolios. Although the Directors of the 
Responsible Entity consider this value to represent fair value as at the reporting date, uncertainty exists as to the likely unit 
price of each of the unlisted property securities funds when these funds re-commence acceptance of redemptions. 

Controlled entity and priority distribution payment 
The Fund owns 100% of the ordinary units of MPIF. The results of MPIF are consolidated into the results of the Fund’s 
financial report. MPIF, on a stand-alone basis, holds $5,661,000 in cash at 30 June 2012 and has an investment portfolio of 
ASX listed and unlisted property securities of $27,362,000 at the year end date.   

MPIF has 52,791,450 income units on issue at the reporting date. Under the terms of the MPIF Product Disclosure 
Statement, income unitholders have a targeted monthly priority distribution payment (PDP) which is calculated with reference 
to a margin of 2.5% per annum above the distribution yield on the S&P/ASX 200 Property Trust index (with a minimum 
distribution of 7.5% per annum and a maximum of 8.5% per annum). 

In circumstances where MPIF does not meet the PDP to its income unitholders, the Fund will be prevented from making 
distributions to its ordinary unitholders unless the shortfall has been met within 12 months of the end of the month in which 
the shortfall occurred. 

As MPIF distributed less than the PDP for the period July 2011 through June 2012, the Fund will be prevented from making 
a distribution to its unitholders until the shortfall has been met. This distribution stopper will remain in place until any shortfall 
in the PDP for the preceding 12 months is, or has been, paid to income unitholders of MPIF. The PDP shortfall at 30 June 
2012 was $2,392,000 (2011: $2,262,000). 

Investment accounted for using the equity method 
The Consolidated Entity owns 20.6% of the ordinary units of Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund (MNZPF).  In accordance 
with accounting standards, the Consolidated Entity has significant influence over MNZPF and accounts for its investment 
under the equity accounting method whereby the Consolidated Entity records its share of profit or loss of MNZPF’s 
operations.  Any changes to the results and operations of the underlying investment are presented in the Consolidated 
Entity’s financial statements through the share of net profit or loss of investments accounted for using the equity method line 
item in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying value of the investment accounted for using the equity 
method in the Statement of Financial Position.   
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Investment accounted for using the equity method continued 
In accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of assets, an assessment must be made at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an asset is impaired. A review of the equity accounted investment was performed at the reporting date 
and no further impairment against the equity accounted investment in MNZPF was required. This conclusion was reached 
upon assessment of the fair value less cost to sell of the equity accounted investment, to ensure the current carrying value 
does not exceed the recoverable amount (being the higher of fair value less cost to sell or value in use). The fair value less 
cost to sell was determined based on the NTA of MNZPF, less estimated costs of disposal.  

Corporate governance 
BCML, in its capacity as Responsible Entity for the Fund, is required under the ASX Listing Rules to prepare a Corporate 
Governance Statement (the Statement) and include the Statement in its annual financial report.  

The Statement discloses the extent to which BCML has followed the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments (2nd edition), (the ASX Principles) during the 
reporting period. The ASX Principles are guidelines for businesses which set out eight core principles the Corporate 
Governance Council believes lie behind good corporate governance. BCML is committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance. As a wholly owned subsidiary of Brookfield Australia Investments Limited (BAIL), BCML will, wherever 
possible, make use of the existing governance framework and expertise within the Brookfield Australia Investments Group 
(the Group) as it applies to the Fund’s operations and will continue to review and update its governance practices and 
policies from time to time.  

The Principles have been adopted by BCML, where appropriate, to ensure stakeholder interests are protected, however, 
some of the Principles are neither relevant nor practically applicable to the investment structure of the Fund. This Statement 
outlines BCML’s main governance policies and practices, and the extent of its compliance with the ASX Principles for the 
reporting period 1 July 2011 to 30 June 2012. 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight  
It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure that the foundations for management and oversight of the Fund are established and 
documented appropriately. 

Role of the Board & Senior Executives  
The Board identifies the role of the Board, its committees and the powers reserved to the Board in a charter. The Board 
Charter reserves the following powers for the Board:  
− approval of risk management strategy;  
− approval of financial statements and any significant changes to accounting policies;  
− approval of distribution payments;  
− approval and monitoring of major investments or divestitures and strategic commitments; 
− consideration of recommendations from the Audit Committee and Board Risk and Compliance Committee; and 
− any matter which, according to law, is expressly reserved for Board determination.  

A copy of the Board Charter is available on the Brookfield Australia website at www.au.brookfield.com. 

In addition, the Board is responsible for:  
− monitoring the implementation of the financial and other objectives of the Fund; 
− overseeing and approving the risk, control and accountability systems; 
− monitoring compliance with legal, constitutional and ethical standards; and 
− ensuring there is effective communication with unitholders and other stakeholders of the Fund. 

On appointment, each independent director of the Board receives a letter of appointment which details the key terms and 
expectations of their appointment. 
Process for evaluating the performance of senior executives  
The Management team responsible for the operation of the Fund and BCML are employees of the Group and are subject to 
the Group’s performance evaluation process.  

All new employees, including senior executives, attend a formal induction which provides an overall introduction to the 
various business units within the Group.  

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value 
Majority of Independent Directors 
Throughout the reporting period the Board had a majority of Independent Directors. The independent status of those 
Directors was determined using the criteria set out in Recommendation 2.1 of the ASX Principles. The table below sets out 
the details of each of the Directors including their independent status and length of tenure. 
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Corporate governance continued 
Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value continued 
Majority of Independent Directors continued 
Name Position held Independent 

(Yes/No) 
Date appointed to the 
Board 

F. Allan McDonald Non-Executive Independent Chairman Yes 1 January 2010 
Brian Motteram Non-Executive Independent Director  Yes 21 February 2007 
Barbara Ward Non-Executive Independent Director Yes 1 January 2010 
Russell Proutt Executive Director No 1 January 2010 
Shane Ross Executive Director No 16 May 2011 

The Board considers that collectively, the Directors have an appropriate mix of skills, experience and expertise which allow it 
to meet the Fund’s objectives. The composition of the Board is subject to continuous review. Profiles of each of the 
Directors may be found on pages 4. 
Chairperson and independence 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that the Chairperson of the Board be independent.  

Allan McDonald, the Chairman of the Board, is an independent, non-executive Director.   

Roles of the Chairman and CEO 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer be split and not 
exercised by the same individual. 

Allan McDonald, the Chairman, is a non-executive, independent director.  

Nomination Committee 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that boards establish a nomination committee to oversee the 
selection and appointment of directors. Ultimate responsibility for director selection rests with the full board. 

BCML does not have a nomination committee. The nomination and appointment of Directors is undertaken by BAIL in 
consultation with the Board. This practice is in accordance with BCML's Charter and the Corporations Act.  

Evaluation of the performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors 
The Board is responsible for reviewing and monitoring its performance and the performance of its committees and directors. 
The Board undertakes an annual self-evaluation of its performance. The evaluation is conducted by way of a survey of each 
Director, followed by an analysis and discussion of the results. As part of the review, consideration is given to the existing 
skills and competency of the Directors to ensure there is an appropriate mix of skills for managing BCML and the Fund.   

Induction and education  
An induction programme for Directors is facilitated by the Company Secretary. The programme provides new directors with 
an understanding of the financial, strategic, operational and risk management position of BCML, the Fund and the Group. 

Access to information  
All Directors have unrestricted access to records of BCML and the Fund and receive regular financial and operational reports 
from senior management to enable them to carry out their duties. 

The Board Charter grants the Board collectively, and each Director individually, the right to seek independent professional 
advice at BCML’s expense to help them carry out their responsibilities. 

The Board and the Company Secretary 
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board on all governance 
matters and supports the Board by monitoring and maintaining Board policies and procedures, and coordinating the timely 
completion and dispatch of the Board agenda and briefing material.   

The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter for BAIL in consultation with the Board. 

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making 
The Brookfield Group has a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the Code) which sets out the requirements for workplace 
and human resource practices, risk management and legal compliance.  

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 
The Board acknowledges that all employees of the Group and Directors of BCML are subject to the Code and are required 
to act honestly and with integrity. The Code is designed to ensure that all directors, officers and employees conduct activities 
with the highest standards of honesty and integrity and in compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements. The Code is 
aligned to the Group’s core values of teamwork, integrity and performance and is fully supported by the Board.   
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Corporate governance continued 
Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making continued 
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics continued 
A copy of the Code is available on the Brookfield Australia website at www.au.brookfield.com. 

Diversity Policy 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council recommends that Companies establish a policy concerning diversity.   

BCML is not part of an ASX listed group of companies and does not directly employ staff. As a result, BCML has not 
developed a policy concerning diversity. 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 
The approach adopted by the Board is consistent with the Principle. The Board requires the Chief Executive Officer and the 
Chief Financial Officer to provide a written statement that the financial statements of the Fund present a true and fair view, in 
all material aspects, of the financial position and operational results. 

Audit Committee 
The Board has established an Audit Committee to oversee the integrity of the financial reporting controls and procedures 
used by BCML when acting in its capacity as the Responsible Entity.    

The Audit Committee is responsible for: 
− overseeing financial reporting to ensure balance, transparency and integrity; and 
− evaluating and monitoring the effectiveness of the external audit function. 

The members of the Audit Committee throughout the reporting period were:  

Name Position Number of Meetings in Year Attendance 
Brian Motteram  Chairman 2 2 
F. Allan McDonald Member 2 2 
Barbara Ward  Member 2 2 

The members of the Audit Committee are not substantial shareholders of BCML or the Fund or officers of, or otherwise 
associated directly with, a substantial shareholder of BCML or the Fund and therefore are deemed independent. 

With three members, the Audit Committee satisfies all the requirements of ASX Recommendation 4.2 which suggests that 
an audit committee should have ‘at least three members’. The structure of the Audit Committee satisfied the three other 
requirements of Recommendation 4.2.  

The Board considers that during the reporting period the Audit Committee was of sufficient size, independence and technical 
expertise to discharge its mandate effectively.  

Charter of the Audit Committee  
The Audit Committee has adopted a formal Charter which sets out their responsibilities with respect to financial reporting, 
external audit (including procedures regarding appointment, removal of and term of engagement with the external auditor), 
and performance evaluation.  

A copy of the Audit Committee’s Charter is available on the Brookfield Australia website at www.au.brookfield.com.  

Principle 5: Make timely and balanced disclosure 
BCML is committed to complying with the continuous disclosure obligations contained in the ASX Listing Rules. The Board 
has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy which is designed to ensure that all unit holders have equal and timely access 
to material information concerning the Fund. The Continuous Disclosure Policy applies to all Directors, managers and 
employees involved in the operation of the Fund and BCML. 

The Company Secretary is primarily responsible for the Fund’s compliance with its continuous disclosure obligations and 
maintaining the Continuous Disclosure Policy. The Company Secretary is also the liaison between the Board and the ASX.   

A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available on the Brookfield Australia website at www.au.brookfield.com. 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of the Fund’s unitholders 
BCML’s communication strategy is incorporated into the Continuous Disclosure Policy.  

BCML is committed to timely and ongoing communication with the Fund’s unitholders. The Annual Report also provides an 
update to investors on major achievements and the financial results of the Fund.  

Up to date information on the Fund, including any continuous disclosure notices given by the Fund, financial reports and 
distribution information is available on the Brookfield Australia website at www.au.brookfield.com. 
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Corporate governance continued 
Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk  
Risk management and compliance framework  
An important role of BCML is to effectively manage the risks inherent in its business while supporting the performance and 
success of the Fund. BCML is committed to ensuring that it has a robust system of risk oversight and management and 
internal controls in compliance with ASX Principle 7. 

The Board has delegated responsibility for the oversight of BCML’s compliance program to a Board Risk and Compliance 
Committee.  

The members of the Board Risk and Compliance Committee throughout the financial period were:  

Name Position Number of Meetings in Year Attendance 
Barbara Ward  Chairperson 2 2 
F. Allan McDonald Member 2 2 
Brian Motteram  Member 2 2 

The Board Risk and Compliance Committee is governed by a formal Charter which is available on the Brookfield Australia 
website at www.au.brookfield.com. 

The Board has adopted a Risk Management Strategy (RMS) and has assigned accountability and responsibility for the 
management of risk to Management. The RMS describes the key elements of the risk management framework that relates 
to the delivery of financial services by Australian Financial Services License Holders and their Authorised Representatives.  

In addition to the RMS, Risk Registers are used by management to record and manage potential sources of material 
business risks that could impact upon BCML or the Fund.  

Risk management and internal control system 
The Board is ultimately responsible for overseeing and managing risks to BCML or the Fund. Management reports to the 
Board on risk management and compliance via a Board Risk and Compliance Committee. Financial risks are managed by 
the Audit Committee. Designated compliance staff assists BCML by ensuring that a robust system of compliance and risk 
management is in place. The Compliance Manager for the Group is responsible for reviewing and monitoring the efficiency of 
compliance systems on an ongoing basis. The Group has an internal audit function which may review aspects of BCML’s 
business and the Fund as part of its annual program. 

A summary of BCML’s policies on risk oversight and management is available on the Brookfield Australia website at 
www.au.brookfield.com. 

Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Assurance 
The Board has received assurance from the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer that the sign off of the financial 
statements is based upon a sound system of risk management and that the internal compliance and control systems are 
operating efficiently in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council suggests that Companies should establish a dedicated Remuneration Committee. 
The Directors receive a fee for service and BCML does not directly employ staff, therefore no remuneration committee has 
been established. 

Independent and non-executive Directors receive fees for serving as Directors. Director’s fees are not linked to performance 
of BCML or the Fund. 

Interests of the Responsible Entity 
Management Fees 
For the year ended 30 June 2012, the Fund incurred $672,000 in management fees to the Responsible Entity (2011: 
$731,000). $160,000 of management fees remain payable as at year end (2011: $164,000). 

Related party unitholders 
The following interests were held in the Consolidated Entity during the year: 
− Brookfield Capital Securities Limited, as trustee for Brookfield Multiplex PPF Investment No.2 Trust, holds 328,609,014 

units or 40.5% of the Fund at year end (2011: 328,609,014 units or 40.5%); 
− Brookfield Multiplex Capital Pty Ltd holds 9,737,640 units or 1.2% of the Fund at year end (2011: 9,737,640 units or 

1.2%); and 
− Multiplex APF Pty Ltd, as trustee for Multiplex APF Trust, holds 163,751,624 units or 20.2% of the Fund at year end 

(2011: 163,751,624 units or 20.2%). 
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Interests of the Responsible Entity continued 
JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A., as custodian for the Consolidated Entity, holds the following investments in related party 
entities at year end: 
− Multiplex European Property Fund – 12,750,050 units or 5.2% (2011: 12,750,050 or 5.2%); 
− Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund – 45,016,081 units or 20.6% (2011: 45,016,081 units or 20.6%); 
− Brookfield Prime Property Fund – 2,521,890 units or 5.1% of the Fund (2011: 2,521,890 units or 5.0%); and 
− Multiplex Development and Opportunity Fund – 9,320,388 units or 5.7% (2011: 9,320,388 units or 5.7%). 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity that 
occurred during the financial year not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial statements. 

Events subsequent to the reporting date 
The Directors of BCML, as responsible entity for the Fund today released in a Notice of Meeting and Explanatory 
Memorandum a proposal to sell assets of the Fund, to make a payment to unitholders of Multiplex Property Income Fund, to 
distribute assets to unitholders of the Fund and to delist and wind up the Fund. This proposal is subject to two resolutions 
that will be put to unitholders at a unitholder meeting on 24 September 2012. Full details are available within the Notice of 
Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum.  

Other than the above there are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or 
the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial years. 

Likely developments 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity in future financial years and the expected 
results of those operations has not been included in this report because the Directors believe that to do so would be likely to 
result in unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated Entity. 

Environmental regulation 
The Consolidated Entity has systems in place to manage its environmental obligations.  Based upon the results of enquiries 
made, the Responsible Entity is not aware of any significant breaches or non-compliance issues during the year covered by 
this report. 

Distributions 
During the current and prior years, no distributions were paid by the Fund to ordinary unitholders. Distributions paid/payable 
to minority interests are detailed below.   

 
Cents  

per unit 
Total amount 

$’000 
Date of  

payment 

MPIF Income units – minority interest    
June 2012 distribution 0.2864 151 19 July 2012 
May 2012 distribution 0.3129 166 20 June 2012 
April 2012 distribution 0.2542 134 18 May 2012 
March 2012 distribution 0.2674 141 20 April 2012 
February 2012 distribution 0.2893 153 20 March 2012 
January 2012 distribution 0.3206 169 20 February 2012 
December 2011 distribution 0.3252 172 20 January 2012 
November 2011 distribution 0.3563 188 20 December 2011 
October 2011 distribution 0.0353 19 21 November 2011 
September 2011 distribution 0.3375 178 20 October 2011 
August 2011 distribution  0.7371 389 20 September 2011 
July 2011 distribution 0.4590 242 19 August 2011 
Total distribution to income unitholders for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 3.9812 2,102  
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Distributions continued 
Cents  

per unit 
Total amount 

$’000 
Date of  

payment 
MPIF Income units -  minority interest continued    
June 2011 distribution 0.3878 205 20 July 2011 
May 2011 distribution 0.2652 140 20 June 2011 
April 2011 distribution 0.2661 140 20 May 2011 
March 2011 distribution 0.4119 217   20 April 2011 
February 2011 distribution 0.2652 140 21 March 2011 
January 2011 distribution 0.3400 180 21 February 2011 
December 2010 distribution 0.6065 320 20 January 2011 
November 2010 distribution 0.1991 105 20 December 2010 
October 2010 distribution 0.2678 141 22 November 2010 
September 2010 distribution 0.6455 341 20 October 2010 
August 2010 distribution  0.3119 165 20 September 2010 
July 2010 distribution 0.2289 121 20 August 2010 
Total distribution to income unitholders for the year 
ended 30 June 2011 4.1959 2,215  

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 
BAIL has entered into deeds of access and indemnity with each of its Directors, Company Secretary and other nominated 
Officers. The terms of the deeds are in accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 and will indemnify these 
executives (to the extent permitted by law) for up to seven years after serving as an Officer against legal costs incurred in 
defending civil or criminal proceedings against the executives, except where proceedings result in unfavourable decisions 
against the executives, and in respect of reasonable legal costs incurred by the executives in good faith in obtaining legal 
advice in relation to any issue relating to the executives being an officer of the Group, including BCML. 

Under the deeds of access and indemnity, BAIL has agreed to indemnify these persons (to the extent permitted by law) 
against: 
− liabilities incurred as a director or officer of BCML or a company in the Group, except for those liabilities incurred in 

relation to the matters set out in section 199A(2) of the Corporations Act 2001; and  
− reasonable legal costs incurred in defending an action for a liability or alleged liability as a director or officer, except for 

costs incurred in relation to the matters set out in section 199A(3) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

BAIL has also agreed to effect, maintain and pay the premium on a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy. This 
obligation is satisfied by BAIL being able to rely upon Brookfield’s global directors’ and officers’ insurance policy, for which it 
pays a portion of the premium. 

As is usual, this policy has certain exclusions and therefore does not insure against liabilities arising out of matters including 
but not limited to: 
− fraudulent, dishonest or criminal acts or omissions and improper personal profit or advantage;  
− violation of US Securities Act of 1933; 
− losses for which coverage under a different kind of insurance policy is readily available such as, for example, liability 

insurance, employment practices liability and pollution liability (there can be limited coverage for some of these 
exposures); and  

− claims made by a major shareholder (threshold is ownership of 10% or greater). 

The obligation to effect, maintain and pay the premium on a policy continues for a period of seven years after the director or 
officer has left office to the extent such coverage is available with reasonable terms in the commercial insurance 
marketplace. 

Contract of insurance  
The Group has paid or agreed to pay a portion of the premium in respect of a contract taken out by Brookfield Asset 
Management Inc. insuring the Directors and officers of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and its subsidiaries, which include 
BCML, against a liability.  

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of BCML or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 
as such an officer or auditor. 
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Non-audit services 
All amounts paid to Deloitte during the current and prior years for audit, review and regulatory services are disclosed in Note 
7. 

Details of fees for non-audit services incurred by the Consolidated Entity to Deloitte during the current year are set out 
below. These amounts were paid out of the assets of the Consolidated Entity.  

 Consolidated 

 

Year ended 30 June 
2012 

$ 

Year ended 30 June 
2011 

$ 

Services other than statutory audit:   
Non-audit services relating to the Fund – – 
Non-audit services relating to the Fund’s subsidiary MPIF – – 
Total fees related to non-audit services – – 

Remuneration report  
a Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Responsible Entity 
The Fund does not employ personnel in its own right. However, it is required to have an incorporated Responsible Entity to 
manage the activities of the Fund and this is considered the Key Management Personnel (KMP). The Directors of the 
Responsible Entity are KMP of that entity and their names are: 

F. Allan McDonald (appointed 1 January 2010) 
Brian Motteram (appointed 21 February 2007) 
Barbara Ward (appointed 1 January 2010) 
Russell Proutt (appointed 1 January 2010) 
Shane Ross (appointed 16 May 2011) 

The Responsible Entity is entitled to a management fee which is calculated as a proportion of gross asset value. Details of 
the fees are shown below. 

No compensation is paid directly by the Consolidated Entity to Directors or to any of the KMP of the Responsible Entity.  
Since the end of the financial year, no Director or KMP of the Responsible Entity has received or become entitled to receive 
any benefit because of a contract made by the Responsible Entity with a Director or KMP, or with a firm of which the 
Director or KMP is a member, or with an entity in which the Director or KMP has a substantial interest, except at terms set 
out in the Fund Constitution. 

Loans to Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Responsible Entity 
The Consolidated Entity has not made, guaranteed or secured, directly or indirectly, any loans to the Directors and KMP or 
their personally related entities at any time during the year.  

Other transactions with Directors and Specified Executives of the Responsible Entity 
From time to time, Directors and KMP or their personally-related entities may buy or sell units in the Fund.  These 
transactions are subject to the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other Fund investors.  

No Director or KMP has entered into a contract for services with the Responsible Entity during the year and there were no 
contracts involving Directors or KMP subsisting at year end. 

b Management fees 
The management fee incurred by the Consolidated Entity to the Responsible Entity for the year ended 30 June 2012 was 
$672,000 (2011: $731,000). 

Rounding of amounts 
The Consolidated Entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998 (updated by CO 05/641 
effective 28 July 2005 and CO 06/51 effective 31 January 2006), and in accordance with that Class Order, all financial 
information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
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  Consolidated 

 Note 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Revenue and other income    
Distribution income from ASX listed and unlisted property trusts  11,191 7,739 
Net gain on disposal of ASX listed and unlisted property trusts  163 4,159 
Interest income  757 1,374 
Total revenue and other income  12,111 13,272 

Expenses    
Share of net loss of investment accounted for using the equity method 6 1,244 2,099 
Impairment expense 12 9,877 5,442 
Finance costs to external parties  2,599 5,165 
Management fees  672 731 
Other expenses 10 1,622 683 
Total expenses  16,014 14,120 
Net loss for the year  (3,903) (848) 

Other comprehensive income    
Change in reserves of investment accounted for using the equity method 17 389 (1,359) 
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets 17 1,647 7,511 
Change in fair value of cash flow hedge 17 (254) – 
Other comprehensive income for the year  1,782 6,152 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (2,121) 5,304 

Net loss attributable to:    
Ordinary unitholders  787 (2,149) 
Minority interest – MPIF income unitholders  (4,690) 1,301 
Net loss for the year  (3,903) (848) 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:    
Ordinary unitholders  2,501 1,362 
Minority interest – MPIF income unitholders  (4,622) 3,942 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (2,121) 5,304 

 

Earnings per unit    
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary unit (cents)            8 0.10 (0.30) 
 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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  Consolidated 

 Note 
          2012 

$’000 
          2011 

$’000 

Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  23,962 10,573 
Trade and other receivables 11 4,218 1,897 
Investments – available for sale 12 33,646 31,209 
Total current assets  61,826 43,679 

Non-current assets    
Investments – available for sale 12 95,073 119,172 
Investment accounted for using the equity method 6 25,142 25,997 
Total non-current assets  120,215 145,169 
Total assets  182,041 188,848 

Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 14 528 1,054 
Distribution payable  151 205 
Total current liabilities  679 1,259 

Non-current liabilities    
Fair value of financial derivative 15 254 – 
Interest bearing liabilities 15 34,842 37,100 
Total non-current liabilities  35,096 37,100 
Total liabilities  35,775 38,359 
Net assets   146,266 150,489 

Equity    
Attributable to ordinary unitholders    

Units on issue – ordinary units 16 231,827 231,827 
Reserves 17 4,092 2,378 
Undistributed losses 18 (123,902) (124,689) 

Attributable to MPIF income unitholders    
Minority interest – MPIF income units 16 52,960 52,960 
Reserves 17 4,642 4,574 
Undistributed losses 18 (23,353) (16,561) 

Total equity  146,266 150,489 
 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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 Attributable to unitholders of the Fund Attributable to minority interest 

Consolidated Entity 

Ordinary 
Units 
$’000 

Undistributed 
profits/(losses)   

$’000 
Reserves 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Income units 
$’000 

Undistributed 
profits/(losses)   

$’000 
Reserves 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Total 
equity 
$’000 

Opening equity – 1 July 2011 231,827 (124,689) 2,378 109,516 52,960 (16,561) 4,574 40,973 150,489 
Change in reserves of investment accounted 
for using the equity method – – 389 389 – 

 
– 

 
– – 389 

Change in fair value of available for sale 
financial assets – –   1,579   1,579 – 

 
– 

 
68 68 1,647 

Change in fair value of cash flow hedge – – (254) (254) – – – – (254) 
Other comprehensive income for the year – – 1,714 1,714 – – 68 68 1,782 
Net profit/(loss) for the year – 787 – 787 – (4,690) – (4,690) (3,903) 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
year – 787 1,714 2,501 – (4,690) 68 (4,622) (2,121) 

Transactions with unitholders in their capacity as unitholders:       
Distributions paid/payable – – – – – (2,102) – (2,102) (2,102) 
Total transactions with unitholders in their 
capacity as unitholders – – – – – (2,102) 

 
– (2,102) (2,102) 

Closing equity – 30 June 2012 231,827 (123,902) 4,092 112,017 52,960 (23,353) 4,642 34,249 146,266 
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 Attributable to unitholders of the Fund Attributable to minority interest 

Consolidated Entity 

Ordinary 
Units 
$’000 

Undistributed 
profits/(losses)   

$’000 
Reserves 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Income units 
$’000 

Undistributed 
profits/(losses)   

$’000 
Reserves 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Total 
equity 
$’000 

Opening equity – 1 July 2010 203,381 (122,540) (1,133) 79,708 52,960 (15,647) 1,933 39,246 118,954 
Change in reserves of investment accounted 
for using the equity method – – (1,359) (1,359) – 

 
– 

 
– – (1,359) 

Change in fair value of available for sale 
financial assets – – 4,870 4,870 – 

 
– 

 
2,641 2,641  7,511 

Other comprehensive income for the year – – 3,511  3,511 – – 2,641 2,641 6,152 
Net loss/(profit) for the year – (2,149) – (2,149) – 1,301 – 1,301 (848) 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the 
year – (2,149) 2,811 1,362 – 1,301  2,641 3,942 5,304 

Transactions with unitholders in their capacity as unitholders:       

Units issued 28,446 – – 28,446 – – – – 28,446 
Distributions paid/payable – – – – – (2,215) – (2,215) (2,215) 
Total transactions with unitholders in their 
capacity as unitholders 28,446 – – 28,446 – (2,215) 

 
– (2,215) 26,231 

Closing equity – 30 June 2011 231,827 (124,689) 2,378 109,516 52,960 (16,561) 4,574 40,973 150,489 
 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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  Consolidated 

 Note 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash receipts in the course of operations  11,007 7,753 
Cash payments in the course of operations  (2,216) (2,731) 
Interest received  730 1,385 
Financing costs paid  (3,356) (2,645) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 20 6,165 3,762 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for purchase of available for sale assets  (1,057) (18,113) 
Proceeds from sale of available for sale assets and equity accounted 
investment and returns of capital  12,536 20,625 
Net cash flows from investing activities  11,479 2,512 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of ordinary units 16  – 30,429 
Issue costs  – (1,972) 
Repayments of interest bearing liabilities  (2,100) (29,689) 
Distributions paid to minority interests  (2,155) (2,291) 
Net cash flows used in financing activities  (4,255) (3,523) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 13,389 2,751 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  10,573 7,822 
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June   23,962 10,573 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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1 Reporting entity 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund (Fund) is an Australian registered managed investment scheme under the 
Corporations Act 2001. Brookfield Capital Management Limited (BCML), the Responsible Entity of the Fund, is incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. The consolidated financial statements of the Fund as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012 
comprise the Fund and its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Entity’s interest in associates.  

2 Basis of preparation 
a Statement of compliance 
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (AASB) (including Australian interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB) and the Corporations Act 2001.  The financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and the Fund comply with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations adopted by the International Accounting Standards 
Boards (IASB). 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on this 22nd day of August 2012. 

b Basis of measurement 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the following: 
− equity accounted investment which is measured using the equity method;  
− available for sale financial assets which are measured at fair value; 
− derivative financial instrument which is measured at fair value; and 
− interest bearing liabilities which are measured at amortised cost. 

The methods used to measure the above are discussed further in Note 3. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Fund’s functional and presentation 
currency. 

The Consolidated Entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998 (updated by CO 05/641 
effective 28 July 2005 and CO 06/51 effective 31 January 2006), and in accordance with that Class Order, all financial 
information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

c Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are provided in investments 
– available for sale (Note 12) and financial instruments (Note 19). 

3 Significant accounting policies 
The significant policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

a Principles of consolidation 
Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Fund and its subsidiaries.  Control is 
achieved where the Fund has the power to govern the financial and operational policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits 
from its activities. 

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 
with those used by the Consolidated Entity. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in full in the consolidated financial statements.  In the separate financial statements of the Fund, intra-group 
transactions (common control transactions) are generally accounted for by reference to the existing carrying value of the items.  
Where the transaction value of common control transactions differs from their carrying value, the difference is recognised as a 
contribution by or distribution to equity participants by the transacting entities. 

In the Fund’s financial statements, investments in controlled entities are carried at cost less impairment, if applicable. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
a    Principles of consolidation continued 
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Consolidated Entity’s equity therein.  The interests of 
non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis.  Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those 
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.  Total comprehensive 
income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

Changes in the Consolidated Entity’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Consolidated Entity’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to 
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
attributed to unitholders. 

When the Consolidated Entity loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and the previous carrying 
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or 
transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 
disposed of.  The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as 
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. 

Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.  

b Revenue recognition 
Revenues are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received for the sale of goods and services, net of the amount 
of Goods and Services Tax (GST), rebates and discounts. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Consolidated Entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific criteria for the major business activities must also be met before 
revenue is recognised.  Where amounts do not meet these recognition criteria, they are deferred and recognised in the period 
in which the recognition criteria are met. 

Dividends and distributions 
Revenue from dividends and distributions is recognised when the right of the Consolidated Entity to receive payment is 
established, which is generally when they have been declared.   

Dividends and distributions received from associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment of the Consolidated Entity 
in that associate and are not recognised as revenue. 

Interest revenue  
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

Gains or losses on available for sale financial assets 
Listed and unlisted investments are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value, with any resulting gain or 
loss recognised directly in equity in the Statement of Financial Position, except for impairment losses, which are recognised 
directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Where these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised directly in equity in the Statement of Financial Position is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

The fair value of listed investments is the quoted bid price at the period end date.  

c Expense recognition 
Finance costs 
Finance costs are recognised as expenses using the effective interest rate method, unless they relate to a qualifying asset, 
being an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Where a qualifying 
asset exists, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of the qualifying asset 
is capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
c    Expense recognition continued 
Finance costs continued 
Finance costs include: 
− interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings, including amounts paid or received on interest rate 

swaps;  
− amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; 
− amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings; 
− finance lease charges; and 
− certain exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings. 

Management fees 
A base management fee calculated on the gross value of assets is payable to the Responsible Entity. The fee is payable by the 
Consolidated Entity quarterly in arrears. 

Performance fee 
A performance fee of 20% of the outperformance of the Consolidated Entity against the benchmark return (S&P/ASX 200 
Property Accumulation Index) is recognised on an accruals basis.  Any previous underperformance must be recovered before 
a performance fee becomes payable. 

Other expenditure 
Expenses are recognised by the Consolidated Entity on an accruals basis.    

d Goods and services tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an expense item. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST.  The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

e Income tax – funds 
Under current income tax legislation, the Consolidated Entity is not liable for Australian income tax provided that the taxable 
income is fully distributed to unitholders each year. The Consolidated Entity fully distributes its taxable income each year, 
calculated in accordance with the Trust Constitution and applicable legislation to unitholders who are presently entitled to 
income under the Constitution. The Fund had no taxable income. 

f Cash and cash equivalents 
For purposes of presentation in the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash balances, deposits at call with financial 
institutions and other highly liquid investments, with short periods to maturity, which are readily convertible to cash and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

g Trade and other receivables 
Trade debtors and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any 
identified impairment losses. Impairment charges are brought to account as described in Note 3l. Non-current receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

h Available for sale financial assets 
Listed and unlisted investments are classified as being available for sale.  Available for sale financial assets are initially 
recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at fair 
value, with any resulting gain or loss recognised directly in equity. Where there is evidence of impairment in the value of the 
investment, usually through adverse market conditions, the impairment loss will be recognised directly in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Where listed and unlisted investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

i Associates 
The Consolidated Entity’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the 
consolidated financial report. An associate is an entity in which the Consolidated Entity has significant influence, but not 
control, over their financial and operating policies. 

 

 

 



Notes to the Financial Statements continued 24 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 
 

Annual Financial Report 
30 June 2012 

 

3   Significant accounting policies continued 
i    Associates continued 
Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated Statement of Financial Position at cost plus 
post-acquisition changes in the Consolidated Entity’s share of net assets of the associates. After application of the equity 
method, the Consolidated Entity determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect 
to the Consolidated Entity’s net investment in the associates. The consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income reflects 
the Consolidated Entity’s share of the results of operations of the associates. 

When the Consolidated Entity’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Consolidated Entity’s carrying amount 
is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Consolidated Entity has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate. 

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the associate’s equity, the Consolidated Entity recognises its share of 
changes and discloses this in the consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the 
Consolidated Entity’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only 
to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.  Gains and losses are recognised when the contributed assets are 
consumed or sold by the associate. 

j Derivative financial instruments 
The Consolidated Entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk from operational, 
financing and investment activities.  The Consolidated Entity does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 
purposes. 

The Consolidated Entity may designate certain hedging instruments, which includes derivatives, as cash flow hedges. At the 
inception of the hedge relationship, the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item will be documented, 
along with the risk management objectives and the strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Consolidated 
Entity also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are 
used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged 
items. 

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or 
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the income statement in the periods when the 
hedged item is recognised in the income statement.  

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Consolidated Entity revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging 
instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. For cash flow 
hedges, any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity 
and is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction 
is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

k Non-derivative financial instruments 
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, interest bearing liabilities, and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at a fair value through profit or 
loss, any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured as described below. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Consolidated Entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets are derecognised if the Consolidated Entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets 
expire or if the Consolidated Entity transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all 
risks and rewards of the asset.  Regular way purchase and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e. the 
date that the Consolidated Entity commits itself to purchase or sell the asset.  Financial liabilities are derecognised if the 
Consolidated Entity’s obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Accounting policies for cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, available for sale financial assets, trade and 
other payables and interest bearing liabilities are discussed elsewhere within the financial statements. 

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
l Impairment 
Financial assets 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flow of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.  An 
impairment loss in respect of an available for sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value. 

Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Any cumulative loss in respect of an 
available for sale financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised.  For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available for sale financial assets that are debt securities, the 
reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  For available for sale financial assets that are equity 
securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity. 

Non-financial assets 
The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity’s non-financial assets is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  If such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.   

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indication that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 

m Earnings per unit 
The Consolidated Entity presents basic and diluted earnings per unit (EPU) data for all its ordinary unitholders.  Basic EPU is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary unitholders of the Consolidated Entity by the weighted average 
number of ordinary units outstanding during the period.  Diluted EPU is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary unitholders and the weighted average number of ordinary units outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential 
ordinary units. 

n Trade and other payables 
Payables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Consolidated Entity prior to the end of the financial period and which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

o Interest bearing liabilities 
Interest bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value 
being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest rate 
basis.  Interest bearing loans and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Consolidated Entity has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability to at least 12 months after period end. 

p Distributions 
A provision for distribution is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position if the distribution has been declared prior to 
period end. Distributions paid and payable on units are recognised as a reduction in equity.  Distributions paid are included in 
cash flows from financing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. 

q Units on issue 
Issued and paid up units are recognised as changes in equity at the fair value of the consideration received by the 
Consolidated Entity, less any incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new units.  

r Segment reporting 
Operating segments are identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Consolidated Entity that are 
regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their 
performance. Management have identified that this function is performed by the Board of Directors of the Responsible Entity. 
Further details are provided in segment reporting (Note 5). 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
s New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact the 
entity in the period of initial application. They are available for early adoption at 30 June 2012 but have not been applied in 
preparing this financial report: 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9  and 
AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) (effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
and will replace the existing AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard is not applicable 
until 1 January 2013 but is available for early adoption. Under AASB 9, financial assets will be classified as subsequently 
measured at either amortised cost or fair value based on the objective of an entity’s business model for managing financial 
assets and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. This will replace the categories of financial assets under AASB 
139, where each had its own classification criteria. For example, AASB 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and 
losses in other comprehensive income if they relate to equity investments that are not held for trading and an irrevocable 
election is made upon initial recognition.  Fair value gains and losses on available-for-sale debt investments, for example, will 
therefore have to be recognised directly in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial assets may 
also be designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces certain 
inconsistencies. For financial liabilities, the new requirements under AASB 9 only affect the accounting for financial liabilities  
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The Consolidated Entity does not expect to adopt AASB 9 before its operative 
date and therefore will apply the new standard for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Consolidated Entity 
is still assessing the consequential impact of the amendments. 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, 
revised AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and AASB 
2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards 
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
In August 2011, the AASB issued a suite of five new and amended standards which address the accounting for joint 
arrangements, consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures. 

AASB 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and Interpretation 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity 
presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of 
consolidation. However, the standard introduces a single definition of control that applies to all entities, whereby an investor 
controls an investee only if the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Power is the current ability to direct the activities that 
significantly influence returns. Returns must vary and can be positive, negative or both. Control exists when the investor can 
use its power to affect the amount of its returns. There is also new guidance on participating and protective rights and on 
agent/principal relationships.  

AASB 11 introduces a principles based approach to accounting for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer on the legal 
structure of joint arrangements, but rather on how rights and obligations are shared by the parties to the joint arrangement. 
Based on the assessment of rights and obligations, a joint arrangement will be classified as either a joint operation or a joint 
venture. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, and the choice to proportionately consolidate will no longer 
be permitted. Parties to a joint operation will account their share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in much the same 
way as under the previous standard. AASB 11 also provides guidance for parties that participate in joint arrangements but do 
not share joint control. 

AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards, AASB 10 and AASB 11, and 
replaces the disclosure requirements currently found in AASB 127 and AASB 128.  

Amendments to AASB 128 provide clarification that an entity continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure its 
retained interest as part of ownership changes where a joint venture becomes an associate, and vice versa. The amendments 
also introduce a “partial disposal” concept.  

The Consolidated Entity does not expect to adopt the new standards and amendments before their operative date and 
therefore will apply the amendments for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Consolidated Entity is still 
assessing the consequential impact of the new standards and amendments. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
s    New standards and interpretations not yet adopted continued 
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
AASB 13 was released in September 2011 and sets out in a single standard a framework for measuring fair value, including 
related disclosure requirements in relation to fair value measurement. The Consolidated Entity does not expect to adopt AASB 
13 before its operative date and therefore will apply the amendments for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. 
The Consolidated Entity is still assessing the consequential impact of the new standard. 

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure 
Requirements (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013) 
The amendments from AASB 2011-4 remove the individual key management personnel disclosure requirements from AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures, to achieve consistency with the international equivalent standard and remove a duplication of 
the requirements with the Corporations Act 2001. The Consolidated Entity will adopt the amendments from AASB 2011-4 for 
the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Consolidated Entity is still assessing the consequential impact of the 
amendments. 

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012) 
The main change resulting from the amendments in AASB 2011-9 is a requirement for entities to group items presented in 
other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss in the future.  
The Consolidated Entity does not expect to adopt AASB 2011-9 before its operative date and therefore will apply the 
amendments for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2013. The Consolidated Entity is still assessing the consequential 
impact of the amendments. 

4 Parent entity disclosures 
  Fund 

  
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Assets   
Current assets  39,272 27,535 
Non-current assets  106,584 120,634 
Total assets  145,856 148,169 

Liabilities   
Current liabilities  425 1,092 
Non-current liabilities  35,096 37,100 
Total liabilities  35,521 38,192 

Equity   
Units on issue   231,827 231,827 
Reserves  12,347 12,757 
Undistributed losses  (133,839) (134,607) 
Total equity  110,335 109,977 
 

  Fund 

  

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Net profit/(loss) for the year  768 (678) 
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year  (410) 1,604 
Total comprehensive income for the year  358 926 

5 Segment reporting 
Management have identified that the Chief Operating Decision Maker function is performed by the Board of Directors of the 
Responsible Entity (Board). The following segments are identified as reporting segments which are reviewed by the Board to 
make decisions and assess performance: 

Listed property securities 
This segment represents the Consolidated Entity’s investment in a portfolio of ASX listed securities, including impairment 
expenses and any gains or losses recognised on ASX listed property securities. 
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5   Segment reporting continued 
Unlisted property securities 
This segment represents the Consolidated Entity’s investments in unlisted property securities, including the share of results of 
operations of the investment in associate (as the associate is an unlisted property security), impairment expenses and any 
gains or losses recognised on unlisted property securities. 

Other  
Other represents amounts associated with the management of the Consolidated Entity and finance costs associated with the 
Consolidated Entity’s cash and interest bearing liabilities.  

The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s revenue and results by reportable operating segment for the year. The 
revenue reported below represents revenue generated from external customers. There was no intersegment profit or loss 
during the year. 

For the year ended 30 June 2012 

ASX listed 
property 

securities 
$’000 

Unlisted property 
securities 

$’000 
Other  
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Revenue     
Total revenue and other income 3,634 7,720 757 12,111 
Share of net loss of investments accounted for 
using the equity method – (1,244) – (1,244) 
Impairment expense (1,459) (8,418) – (9,877) 
Finance costs to external parties – – (2,599) (2,599) 
Other – – (2,294) (2,294) 
Net profit/(loss) for the year 2,175 (1,942) (4,136) (3,903) 

 

 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2011 

ASX listed 
property 

securities 
$’000 

Unlisted property 
securities 

$’000 
Other 
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Revenue     
Total revenue and other income 5,044 6,854 1,374 13,272 
Share of net loss of investments accounted for 
using the equity method – (2,099) – (2,099) 
Impairment expense (1,230) (4,212) – (5,442) 
Finance costs to external parties – – (5,165) (5,165) 
Other – – (1,414) (1,414) 

Net profit/(loss) for the year 3,814 543 (5,205) (848) 
 
The following is an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s assets by reportable operating segment. 

30 June 2012 

ASX listed 
property 

securities 
$’000 

Unlisted property 
securities 

$’000 
Other  
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Total assets 34,344 121,575 26,122 182,041 
Total liabilities – – 35,775 35,775 
Net assets 34,344 121,575 (9,653) 146,266 
 

30 June 2011 

ASX listed 
property 

securities 
$’000 

Unlisted property 
securities 

$’000 
Other  
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Total assets 31,820 146,425 10,603 188,848 
Total liabilities – – 38,359 38,359 
Net assets 31,820 146,425 (27,756) 150,489 
 
The Consolidated Entity operates in one geographic area. All distribution income is derived from entities domiciled in Australia. 
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 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

6 Investment accounted for using the equity method   
Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund 28,109 28,964 
Impairment (2,967) (2,967) 
Total investment accounted for using the equity method 25,142 25,997 

Share of net loss from investments accounted for using the equity method:   
Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund (1,244) (2,099) 

Summary financial information for equity accounted investees, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the 
Consolidated Entity is detailed below. 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Current assets 106,181 26,477 
Non-current assets 254,405 344,206 
Total assets 360,586 370,683 
   
Current liabilities 224,228 26,568 
Non-current liabilities 12,002 215,617 
Total liabilities 236,230 242,185 
 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012  

$’000  

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Revenues 41,806 49,125 
Expenses (43,889) (68,176) 
Income tax (expense)/benefit (3,945) 8,614 
Net loss after income tax for the year (6,028) (10,437) 
 
The Consolidated Entity owns 20.6% of the ordinary units of Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund (MNZPF) (2011: 20.6%).  
In accordance with accounting standards, the Consolidated Entity has significant influence over MNZPF and accounts for its 
investment under the equity accounting method whereby the Consolidated Entity records its share of profit or loss of 
MNZPF’s operations.  Any changes to the results and operations of the underlying investment are presented in the 
Consolidated Entity’s financial statements through the share of net profit or loss of investment accounted for using the equity 
method line item in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying value of the investment accounted for using 
the equity method in the Statement of Financial Position.  The investment in MNZPF is accounted for as an available for sale 
investment in the standalone Fund. 

In accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of assets, an assessment must be made at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an asset is impaired. A review of the equity accounted investment was performed at the reporting date 
and no further impairment against the equity accounted investment in MNZPF was required. This conclusion was reached 
upon assessment of the fair value less cost to sell of the equity accounted investment, to ensure the current carrying value 
does not exceed the recoverable amount (being the higher of fair value less cost to sell or value in use). The fair value less 
cost to sell was determined based on the net tangible asset (NTA) of MNZPF, less estimated costs of disposal. The carrying 
amount of impairment on equity accounted investments in the Consolidated Entity is detailed below. 

 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Impairment of investments in associates   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year (2,967) (2,519) 
Impairment recognised – (608) 
Reduction of impairment balance due to disposal of investments – 160 
Carrying amount at year end (2,967) (2,967) 
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 Consolidated 

 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$ 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$ 

7 Auditors’ remuneration   
Auditors of the Fund:   
Audit and review of financial reports 95,780 87,840 
Total auditor’s remuneration 95,780 87,840 

Fees paid to the auditors of the Fund and the fund’s subsidiary, Multiplex Property Income Fund (MPIF), in relation to 
compliance plan audits are borne by the Responsible Entity. 

8 Earnings per unit 
Classification of securities as ordinary units 
All securities have been classified as ordinary units and included in basic EPU, as they have the same entitlement to 
distributions. There are no dilutive potential ordinary units, therefore diluted EPU is the same as basic EPU. 
Earnings per unit 
Earnings per unit have been calculated in accordance with the accounting policy per Note 3m. 

 Consolidated 
 Year ended  

30 June 2012 
Year ended  

30 June 2011 

Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary unitholders  $’000 787 (2,149) 
Weighted average number of ordinary units used in the  
calculation of basic and diluted EPU  ’000 811,444 709,735 
Basic and diluted weighted earnings per ordinary unit  cents 0.10 (0.30) 

9 Distributions 
During the current and prior years no distributions were paid by the Fund to ordinary unitholders. Distributions paid/payable to 
minority interests are detailed below: 

 
Cents  

per unit 
Total amount 

$’000 
Date of  

payment 

MPIF Income units – minority interest    
June 2012 distribution 0.2864 151 19 July 2012 
May 2012 distribution 0.3129 166 20 June 2012 
April 2012 distribution 0.2542 134 18 May 2012 
March 2012 distribution 0.2674 141 20 April 2012 
February 2012 distribution 0.2893 153 20 March 2012 
January 2012 distribution 0.3206 169 20 February 2012 
December 2011 distribution 0.3252 172 20 January 2012 
November 2011 distribution 0.3563 188 20 December 2011 
October 2011 distribution 0.0353 19 21 November 2011 
September 2011 distribution 0.3375 178 20 October 2011 
August 2011 distribution  0.7371 389 20 September 2011 
July 2011 distribution 0.4590 242 19 August 2011 
Total distribution to income unitholders for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 3.9812 2,102  

MPIF Income units – minority interest    
June 2011 distribution 0.3878 205 20 July 2011 
May 2011 distribution 0.2652 140 20 June 2011 
April 2011 distribution 0.2661 140 20 May 2011 
March 2011 distribution 0.4119 217   20 April 2011 
February 2011 distribution 0.2652 140 21 March 2011 
January 2011 distribution 0.3400 180 21 February 2011 
December 2010 distribution 0.6065 320 20 January 2011 
November 2010 distribution 0.1991 105 20 December 2010 
October 2010 distribution 0.2678 141 22 November 2010 
September 2010 distribution 0.6455 341 20 October 2010 
August 2010 distribution  0.3119 165 20 September 2010 
July 2010 distribution 0.2289 121 20 August 2010 
Total distribution to income unitholders for the year 
ended 30 June 2011 4.1959 2,215  



Notes to the Financial Statements continued 31 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 
 

Annual Financial Report 
30 June 2012 

9 Distributions continued 
MPIF has 52,791,450 income units on issue at the reporting date. Under the terms of the MPIF Product Disclosure Statement, 
income unitholders have a targeted monthly priority distribution payment (PDP) which is calculated with reference to a margin 
of 2.5% per annum above the distribution yield on the S&P/ASX 200 Property Trust Index (with a minimum distribution of 7.5% 
per annum and a maximum of 8.5% per annum). 

In circumstances where MPIF does not meet the PDP to its income unitholders, the Fund will be prevented from making 
distributions to its unitholders unless the shortfall has been met within 12 months of the end of the month in which the shortfall 
occurred. 

As MPIF distributed less than the PDP for the months July 2011 through June 2012, the Fund will be prevented from making 
distributions to its ordinary unitholders until the shortfall has been met. This distribution stopper will remain in place until any 
shortfall in the PDP for the preceding 12 months is, or has been, paid to Income unitholders of MPIF. The PDP shortfall at 30 
June 2012 was $2,392,000 (2011: $2,262,000). 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

10 Other expenses   
Legal costs (797) (364) 
Consultant costs (275) – 
Other expenses (550) (319) 
Total other expenses (1,622) (683) 
 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

11 Trade and other receivables   
Distributions receivable – ASX listed and unlisted investments 2,058 1,867 
Other receivables 2,160 30 
Total trade and other receivables 4,218 1,897 
 

 Consolidated 

 
Year ended  

30 June 2012 
Year ended  

30 June 2011 

12 Investments – available for sale   
ASX listed investments   
Carrying amount as at beginning of the year 31,209 27,980 
Movement due to acquisitions, disposals and return of capital 1,023 2,470 
Changes in fair value recognised in reserves 2,873 1,989 
Impairments recognised during the year (1,459) (1,230) 
Carrying amount at year end 33,646 31,209 

Unlisted investments   
Carrying amount as at beginning of the year 119,172 130,413 
Movement due to acquisitions, disposals and return of capital (14,455) (13,159) 
Changes in fair value recognised in reserves (1,226) 5,522 
Impairments recognised during the year (8,418) (3,604) 
Carrying amount at year end 95,073 119,172 
Total investments - available for sale 128,719 150,381 
 
Impairment 
During the year, the Consolidated Entity recognised an impairment loss in accordance with accounting standards of 
$9,877,000 in relation to its available for sale investments (2011: $4,834,000). 

The impairment loss recognised in relation to available for sale investments represents the difference between the cost of the 
investments and their market value as at 30 June 2012, less any previously recorded impairment losses and reductions to 
accumulated reserves.  

The Responsible Entity has determined there is objective evidence at the date of this report that the value of the Consolidated 
Entity’s ASX listed and unlisted property trust investments are impaired.  This determination has arisen due to the significant 
and prolonged decline in value of some ASX listed and unlisted property trusts and market conditions within the property 
sector generally. 
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12 Investments – available for sale continued 
Investments in ASX listed property securities 
The investments held in ASX listed investments are classified as current assets on the statement of financial position. As noted 
in the events subsequent to the reporting date (note 24), the Responsible Entity has put a proposal to investors that would 
result in the substantial liquidation of the ASX listed portfolio within the year.  

Investments in unlisted property securities 
The Consolidated Entity invests directly in 31 unlisted property securities funds.  Due to a lack of liquidity in the underlying 
investment portfolios, or due to the initial structure of the fund as detailed in their original product disclosure statements and 
constitutions, 5 have suspended redemptions, 19 have always been closed to redemptions due to the investment structure as 
outlined in their original constitutions, 3 investments were listed on the ASX but are now deemed insolvent and 4 have limited 
liquidity features meaning that the Consolidated Entity, should it want to, has limited ability to realise these investments due to 
limited or no redemption options available through these structures.   

Consistent with 30 June 2011, the Consolidated Entity has generally valued its investments in each of the underlying unlisted 
property securities funds based on the net asset value provided as at 30 June 2012, or where this has not been provided, the 
latest available net asset value. In circumstances where the latest available net asset value has not been obtained, an 
assessment of the appropriateness of the value has been made based on knowledge of valuation and transactional 
movements in the underlying investment’s structure as compared to similar portfolios.  Although the Directors of the 
Responsible Entity consider this value to represent fair value as at the reporting date, uncertainty exists as to the likely unit 
price of each of the unlisted property securities funds when these funds re-commence acceptance of redemptions. 

 Fund 

 
2012 

Ownership % 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

Ownership % 
2011 

$’000 

13 Investment in controlled entities     
Multiplex Property Income Fund – ordinary units 100 30,076 100 30,076 
Provision for impairment  (30,076)  (30,076) 
Carrying amount – Multiplex Property Income Fund  –   –  
BAO Trust (formerly MPF Investment No.1 Trust) 100 8,137 100 8,137 
Carrying amount – BAO Trust  8,137  8,137 
Total investment in controlled entities  8,137  8,137 

The Fund owns 30,075,871, or 100% of the ordinary units in MPIF which are consolidated into the results of the Fund’s 
consolidated financial statements.  Income unitholders are not entitled to any profits from MPIF other than income unit  
distributions and have no right to influence or control MPIF.  MPIF owns 100% of Multiplex Income UPT International 
Investments Trust (2011: 100%) and 100% of Multiplex Income UPT Domestic Investments Trust (2011: 100%). 

A review of the carrying value of the investment in controlled entity at 30 June 2012 indicated that the investment in the 
ordinary units of MPIF was still impaired.  A provision of $30,076,000 was recorded in 2009 to reflect the value of net assets of 
the underlying subsidiary attributable to the Fund as the ordinary unitholder. The provision remains in the current year. No 
further impairments were required to be made in the current year (2011: nil).  

The headline items of the MPIF financial position are detailed below: 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Assets   
Total current assets 12,194 7,975 
Total non-current assets 22,299 33,203 
Total assets 34,493 41,178 

Liabilities   
Total current liabilities 244 205 
Total liabilities  244 205 
Net assets 34,249 40,973 
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Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

14 Trade and other payables   
Management fee payable 160 164 
Accruals and other payables 368 890 
Total trade and other payables 528 1,054 

  
 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

15 Interest bearing liabilities   

Non - current   
Secured bank debt 35,000 37,100 
Debt Establishment Fees (158) – 
Total interest bearing liabilities - non-current 34,842 37,100 
Total interest bearing liabilities 34,842 37,100 

 

 Consolidated 

Expiry Date 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Finance arrangements   
Facilities available   
Bank debt facility                                                                               16 November 2014 35,000 – 
Bank debt facility                                                                                  1 December 2012 – 37,100 
Investment facility                                                                                          1 June 2013 20,000 20,000 
Less: Facilities utilised (35,000) (37,100) 
Facilities not utilised 20,000 20,000 

Refinance of debt  
During the year, the Fund refinanced its existing debt facility, which was due to expire in December 2012. Key terms of the 
new debt facility are as follows: 
- Facility limit of $35 million, with maturity in November 2014 and subject to terms including the following financial 

covenants: 
o Loan to Value Ratio limit at 30%; and 
o Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.60. 

- Margin of 3% per annum over BBSY. 

New interest rate swap 
During the year, the Fund has entered into an interest rate swap for a two year period to hedge $26.25 million (75% of the 
facility limit) at a fixed rate of 3.75% resulting in an effective rate of 6.75% for the hedged amount for the two year period. The 
table below summarises the positions as at 30 June 2012.  

  Floating rate Fixed rate Notional amount 

Fair value of 

interest rate 

swaps 

Expiry date 

Underlying 

instrument 

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

% % % % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

21 November 2013 Floating to fixed 3.66 – 3.75 – 26,250 – (254)       – 

Investment facility  
A wholly owned subsidiary of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. has provided a $20 million Investment Facility to fund 
investments by the Fund. The Investment Facility has a maturity date of 1 June 2013. Further details have been provided in the 
Fund’s Rights Issue Offer Booklet issued 28 July 2010. At 30 June 2012 the facility remains undrawn (30 June 2011: 
undrawn). 
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Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

Units 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

Units 

16 Units on issue     
Ordinary units     
Opening balance  231,827 811,443,720 203,381 202,860,930 
Issue of units – – 30,429 608,582,790 
Unit issue costs – – (1,983) – 
Closing balance – ordinary units 231,827 811,443,720 231,827 811,443,720 

Minority interest – income units  
Opening balance 52,960 52,791,450 52,960 52,791,450 
Closing balance – minority interest – income units 52,960 52,791,450 52,960 52,791,450 

The above ordinary units represent the ordinary units of the Consolidated Entity and the Fund. The minority interest above 
represents income units issued by MPIF and are only shown in the consolidated financial statements. 

In accordance with the Fund’s Constitution, each unitholder is entitled to receive distributions as declared from time to time 
and is entitled to one vote per unit at unitholder meetings. In accordance with the Fund’s Constitution, each unit represents a 
right to an individual share in the Fund and does not extend to a right to the underlying assets of the Fund. 

17 Reserves 
Reserves 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Available for sale reserve 19,037 17,390 
Foreign currency translation reserve (10,049) (10,438) 
Cash flow hedge reserve (254) – 
Total reserves 8,734 6,952 

Available for sale reserve 
 Consolidated 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance 17,390  9,879 
Fair value movement in relation to unlisted investments (1,226) 5,522 
Fair value movement in relation to ASX listed investments 2,873 1,989 
Closing balance 19,037 17,390 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
 Consolidated 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance (10,438) (9,079) 
Share of associate’s reserves 389 (1,359) 
Closing balance (10,049) (10,438) 

Cash flow hedge reserve 
 Consolidated 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance – – 
Movement in cash flow hedge reserve (254) – 
Closing balance (254)       – 
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18 Undistributed losses 
 Consolidated 

 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance (141,250) (138,187) 
Net loss (3,903) (848) 
Distributions to income unitholders (2,102) (2,215) 
Closing balance (147,255) (141,250) 

19 Financial instruments 
Significant accounting policies 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset and 
financial liability, are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements. 

Throughout the year, in assessing the size and frequency of any distributions, the capacity of the Fund to accept redemption 
requests or to accept new applications for units, the Responsible Entity considers all of the risk factors disclosed below. This 
includes considering the liquid/illiquid nature of any assets or investments made by the Fund.  

a Capital risk management 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and market confidence and the sustainable 
future growth of the Consolidated Entity.  The Responsible Entity monitors the market unit price of the Consolidated Entity 
against the Consolidated Entity’s NTA (attributable to ordinary unitholders), along with earnings per unit invested and 
distributions paid per unit. 

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and 
the security afforded by a sound capital position.  As per the Consolidated Entity’s Product Disclosure Statement, the 
Responsible Entity seeks to restrict the level of short-term borrowings (up to 12 months in maturity) to 30% of the total 
tangible assets of the Fund.   

On 17 December 2008, the responsible entity of the Fund’s subsidiary MPIF resolved to temporarily close MPIF to applications 
and redemptions.  On 28 April 2009, the responsible entity of MPIF resolved to temporarily redeem units to a maximum value 
of the cash reserves at that time, or $10,700,000.  MPIF remains temporarily closed to applications and redemptions at 30 
June 2012.  There were no other changes in the Fund’s or Consolidated Entity’s approach to capital management during the 
year. The Board will review this policy after the outcome of the unitholder meeting on 24 September 2012. 

b Financial risk management 
Overview 
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to financial risks in the course of its operations.  These exposures arise at two levels, direct 
exposures, which arise from the Consolidated Entity’s use of financial instruments and indirect exposures, which arise from the 
Consolidated Entity’s equity investments in other funds (Underlying Funds), and can be summarised as follows: 
− credit risk; 
− liquidity risk; and 
− market risk (including interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and equity price risk). 

The Underlying Funds are exposed to financial risks in the course of their operations, which can impact their profitability.  The 
profitability of the Underlying Funds impacts the returns the Consolidated Entity earns from these investments and the 
investment values. 

The Responsible Entity has responsibility for the establishment and monitoring of a risk management framework.  This 
framework seeks to minimise the potential adverse impact of the above risks on the Consolidated Entity’s financial 
performance.  The Board of the Responsible Entity is responsible for developing risk management policies and the Board Risk 
and Compliance Committee (which is established by the Board) is responsible for ensuring compliance with those risk 
management policies as outlined in the compliance plan.  

Compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s policies is reviewed by the Responsible Entity on a regular basis.  The results of 
these reviews are reported to the Board and the Board Risk and Compliance Committee of the Responsible Entity quarterly. 

Investment mandate 
The Consolidated Entity’s investment mandate, as disclosed in its Constitution and Product Disclosure Statement, is to invest 
in ASX listed and unlisted property trust securities. 

Derivative financial instruments 
Whilst the Consolidated Entity may utilise derivative financial instruments, it will not enter into or trade derivative financial 
instruments for speculative purposes.  The use of derivatives is governed by the Consolidated Entity’s investment policies,  
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19 Financial instruments continued 
b Financial risk management continued 
Derivative financial instruments continued 
which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives.  These principles permit the use of derivatives to mitigate 
financial risks associated with financial instruments utilised by the Consolidated Entity.   

c Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Consolidated Entity if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations.   

Sources of credit risk and risk management strategies 
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to both direct and indirect credit risk in the normal course of its operations.  Direct credit 
risk arises principally from the Consolidated Entity’s investment securities (in terms of distributions receivable and capital 
invested) and derivative counterparties. Other credit risk also arises for the Consolidated Entity from cash and cash 
equivalents. 

Indirect credit risk arises principally from the Consolidated Entity’s investments in property trusts and their property tenants 
and derivative counterparties. 

Trade and other receivables 
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer and 
counterparty.  The Consolidated Entity manages and minimises exposure to credit risk by actively reviewing the investment 
portfolio to ensure committed distributions are paid. 

Investments - available for sale 
Credit risk arising from investments is mitigated by investing in securities in accordance with the Consolidated Entity’s 
Constitution and Product Disclosure Statement.   

Prior to making an investment in an Underlying Fund, the Responsible Entity will assess the Underlying Funds’ asset portfolio 
to ensure the risk investment strategy of the Underlying Fund is consistent with the investment objectives of the Consolidated 
Entity.   

Fair value of financial derivatives 
Transactions with derivative counterparties are limited to established financial institutions that meet the Consolidated Entity’s 
minimum credit rating criteria.   

The Consolidated Entity’s overall strategy of credit risk management remains unchanged from 2011. 

Exposure to credit risk 
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date.  The carrying amounts of these financial 
assets represent the maximum credit risk exposure at the reporting date. 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Cash and cash equivalents 23,962 10,573 
Trade and other receivables 4,218 1,897 
Investments – available for sale 128,719 150,381 
Total exposure to credit risk 156,899 162,851 

Concentrations of credit risk exposure 
The Consolidated Entity does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk at the reporting date. 

Collateral obtained/held 
Where applicable, the Consolidated Entity obtains collateral from counterparties to minimise the risk of default on their 
contractual obligations.  At the reporting date, the Consolidated Entity did not hold any collateral in respect of its financial 
assets (2011: nil).  During the year ended 30 June 2012, the Consolidated Entity did not call on any collaterals provided (2011: 
nil). 
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19 Financial instruments continued 
c Credit risk continued 
Financial assets past due but not impaired 
The ageing of the Consolidated Entity’s receivables at the reporting date is detailed below: 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Current 4,218 1,897 
Past due 0-30 days – – 
Past due 31-120 days – – 
Past due 121 days to one year – – 
More than one year – – 
Total trade and other receivables 4,218 1,897 

For the Consolidated Entity, amounts recognised above are not deemed to be impaired.  There are no significant financial 
assets that have had their terms renegotiated that would otherwise have rendered the financial assets past due or impaired 
(2011: nil).  During the year ended 30 June 2012, nil receivables were written off by the Consolidated Entity (2011: $8,000). 

d Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. 

Sources of liquidity risk and risk management strategies 
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to direct and indirect liquidity risk in the normal course of its operations.   

The main sources of liquidity risk for the Consolidated Entity is refinancing of interest bearing liabilities and unlisted investment 
securities.  The Consolidated Entity’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to work to ensure that it has sufficient cash 
available to meet its liabilities as and when they fall due without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Consolidated Entity’s reputation. 

The Consolidated Entity also manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate banking facilities, through continuous monitoring 
of forecast and actual cash flows and matching maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  

The main source of indirect liquidity risk for the Consolidated Entity is the refinancing of interest bearing liabilities held by the 
Underlying Funds, as this can directly impact the amount of distributions the Underlying Funds remit to the Consolidated 
Entity.  The Consolidated Entity manages this risk by ensuring the Consolidated Entity only invests in funds with investment 
strategies consistent with the investment objectives of the Consolidated Entity and monitoring the performance of those funds. 

The Consolidated Entity’s specific risk management strategies are discussed below. 

Interest bearing liabilities   
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to liquidity risk (refinancing risk) on its interest bearing loans.  The Consolidated Entity 
manages this risk by ensuring debt maturity dates and loan covenants are regularly monitored and negotiations with 
counterparties are commenced well in advance of the debt’s maturity date. Refer to interest bearing liabilities (Note15) for 
details of facilities available. 

Unitholders 
The Fund is not exposed to liquidity risk associated with unitholder redemptions as its units are traded on the Australian 
Securities Exchange (ASX).  The Consolidated Entity is exposed to liquidity risk on the income units issued by MPIF, as these 
can be redeemed by unitholders. MPIF has been closed to applications and redemptions during the whole of the financial 
year, therefore no liquidity risk existed for the year.  

Investments – available for sale 
The Consolidated Entity’s listed investments are considered readily realisable as they are listed on the ASX.  The 
Consolidated Entity’s unlisted investments are not considered as liquid as listed investments. Refer to investments – 
available for sale (note 12) for further details. The Consolidated Entity manages this risk by ensuring the Consolidated Entity 
only invests in funds with investment strategies consistent with the investment objectives of the Consolidated Entity and 
monitoring the performance of those funds. 

The Consolidated Entity’s liquidity risk is also managed in accordance with its investment strategy, as disclosed in the 
Product Disclosure Statement. 
The Consolidated Entity’s overall strategy to liquidity risk management remains unchanged from 2011. 

Defaults and breaches 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011, the Consolidated Entity was not in default or breach of any 
terms of its loan amounts or covenants.   
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19 Financial instruments continued 
d Liquidity risk continued 
Maturity analysis of financial liabilities 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments.  The tables have 
been prepared based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
Consolidated Entity can be required to pay.   

 Consolidated $’000 

 
Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

0 to 12 
months 

 
1 to 2 years 

 
2 to 5 years 

Greater 
than 5 years 

Consolidated 2012       
Trade and other payables 470 470 470 – – – 
Interest bearing liabilities 34,842 35,000 – – 35,000 – 
Distribution payable 151 151 151 – – – 
Interest payable on debt 58 5,543 2,331 2,331 881 – 
Effect of interest rate swap 254 33 24 9 – – 
Net interest payable on debt 312 5,576 2,355 2,340 881 – 
Total financial liabilities  35,775   41,197   2,976   2,340   35,881  – 

Consolidated 2011        
Trade and other payables 1,054 1,054 1,054 –  –  – 
Distribution payable 205 205 205 –  –  – 
Interest bearing liabilities 37,100 41,025 2,760 38,265  –  – 
Total financial liabilities 38,359 42,284 4,019 38,265 – –  

e Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect 
the Consolidated Entity’s income or the value of its financial instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising returns. 

Sources of market risk and risk management strategies 
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to both direct and indirect market risk in the normal course of its operations.  Direct 
market risk arises principally from the Consolidated Entity’s interest rate risk on interest bearing liabilities and equity price risk 
on the listed and unlisted property securities investment portfolio. Indirect market risk arises in the form of equity price risk, 
interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.   

The Consolidated Entity will only invest in funds with investment strategies consistent with the investment objectives of the 
Consolidated Entity and will monitor the performance of those funds. 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will 
fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  Cash and cash equivalents balances will also fluctuate with changes in 
interest rates due to interest earned.  The key source of interest rate risk for the Consolidated Entity is derived from interest 
bearing liabilities and cash balances.  To manage this exposure, the Consolidated Entity has entered into an interest rate swap 
agreement to fix the interest changed on part of its interest bearing liabilities. Refer to interest bearing liabilities (Note 15) for 
further details. 

The table below shows the Consolidated Entity’s direct exposure to interest rate risk at year end. 

 
Floating rate 

$’000 
Fixed rate 

$’000 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$’000 
Total 

$’000 

Consolidated 2012     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 6,462 17,500 – 23,962 
Trade and other receivables – 35 4,183 4,218 
Investments – available for sale – – 128,719 128,719 
Total financial assets 6,462 17,535 132,902 156,899 

Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables – 58 470 528 
Distribution payable – – 151 151 
Interest bearing liabilities 35,000 – (158) 34,842 
Fair value of financial derivative 254 – – 254 
Total financial liabilities  35,254   58   463  35,775  
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19 Financial instruments continued 
e Market risk continued 
Interest rate risk continued 

Floating rate 

$’000 
Fixed rate 

$’000 

Non-interest 
bearing 

$’000 
Total 

$’000 

Consolidated 2011     
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 10,573 – – 10,573 
Trade and other receivables – – 1,897 1,897 
Investments – available for sale – – 150,381 150,381 
Total financial assets 10,573 – 152,278 162,851 

Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables – – 1,054 1,054 
Distribution payable – – 205 205 
Interest bearing liabilities 37,100 – – 37,100 
Total financial liabilities 37,100 – 1,295 38,359 

Sensitivity analysis 
A change of +/- 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit or loss and equity by the 
amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 

 2012 2012 2011 2011 
 + 1% + 1% - 1% - 1% + 1% + 1% - 1% - 1% 

 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated         
Interest on cash 65 65 (65) (65) 106 106 (106) (106) 
Interest bearing liabilities (350) (350) 350 350 (371) (371) 371 371 
Interest on swaps 263 263 (263) (263) – – – – 
Fair value of derivative – 75 –  (81) – – – – 
Total increase/(decrease) (22) 53 22 (59) (265) (265) 265 265 

Foreign currency risk 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the market value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. 

During the current year, the Consolidated Entity has not been exposed to direct foreign currency risk (2011: nil).  The 
Consolidated Entity is exposed to indirect foreign currency risk due to its investment in entities that are exposed to foreign 
currency risk related to their overseas operations.  The Consolidated Entity manages this risk by ensuring the Consolidated 
Entity only invests in funds with investment strategies consistent with the investment objectives of the Consolidated Entity and 
monitoring the performance of those funds. 

Whilst the Consolidated Entity has an indirect risk exposure to foreign currency risk, no sensitivity analysis has been performed 
as the impact of a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates on the Consolidated Entity cannot be reliably 
measured. 

f Other market risk 
Other market risk is the risk that the total value of investments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices.  The 
primary source of other market risk for the Consolidated Entity is associated with its listed and unlisted investment portfolio.  
The Responsible Entity manages the Consolidated Entity’s market risk on a daily basis in accordance with the Consolidated 
Entity’s investment objectives and policies.  These are detailed in the Consolidated Entity’s Constitution and Product 
Disclosure Statement. 

Sensitivity analysis 
A 10% increase in equity prices would have increased/(decreased) profit and loss and equity by the amounts shown below.  
This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.   
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19 Financial instruments continued 
f Other market risk continued 
Sensitivity analysis continued 

 2012 2012 2011 2011 
 + 10% + 10% - 10% - 10% + 10% + 10% - 10% - 10% 

 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 
Profit 

and loss 
 

Equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated Entity         

Listed investments 3,365 3,365 (3,365) (3,365) 3,121 3,121 (3,121) (3,121) 
Unlisted investments 9,507 9,507 (9,507) (9,507) 11,917 11,917 (11,917) (11,917) 
Total increase/(decrease) 12,872 12,872 (12,872) (12,872) 15,038 15,038 (15,038) (15,038) 

g Fair values 
Methods for determining fair values 
A number of the Consolidated Entity’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value for financial 
assets and liabilities.  Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the following 
methods.  

Cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables 
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at 
the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

Investments – available for sale 
Fair value for listed investments is calculated based on the closing bid price of the security at the reporting date. Fair value for 
unlisted investments is calculated based on the latest available net asset values.  Refer to investments – available for sale (note 
12) for further details. 

Derivative 
The fair value of derivative contracts is based on present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at 
the reporting date. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

Fair values versus carrying amounts 
The Consolidated Entity is required to disclose fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement 
hierarchy:  

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); 
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 

prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and 
(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3). 

The following table presents the Consolidated Entity’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 30 June 
2012.  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, and trade and other payables are 
assumed to reasonably approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  Accordingly, fair value disclosures are not 
provided for such assets and liabilities.    

Consolidated Entity – at 30 June 2012 
Level 1  

$’000 
Level 2  

$’000 
Level 3  

$’000 
Total  

$’000 

Assets     
Investments – available for sale     
− Listed investments  33,646 – – 33,646 
− Unlisted investments – – 95,073 95,073 
Total assets – 30 June 2012 33,646 – 95,073 128,719 

Liabilities     
Financial derivative at fair value through profit and loss – 254 – 254 
Total liabilities – 30 June 2012 – 254 – 254 
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19 Financial instruments continued 
g Fair values continued 
Fair values versus carrying amounts continued     

Consolidated Entity – at 30 June 2011 
Level 1  

$’000 
Level 2  

$’000 
Level 3  

$’000 
Total  

$’000 

Assets     
Investments – available for sale     
− Listed investments  31,209 – – 31,209 
− Unlisted investments – – 119,172 119,172 
Total assets – 30 June 2011 31,209 – 119,172 150,381 
 
Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements: 

Consolidated Entity – for the year ended 30 June 2012  

Investments 
available for 

sale  
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Opening balance – 1 July 2011   119,172 119,172 
Losses recognised in the income statement  (8,418) (8,418) 
Losses recognised in other comprehensive income  (1,226) (1,226) 
Sales  (14,455) (14,455) 
Closing balance – 30 June 2012  95,073 95,073 
Total losses for the year included in the income statement attributable to 
losses relating to assets held at year end  (8,418) (8,418)  

Consolidated Entity – for the year ended 30 June 2011  

Investments 
available for 

sale  
$’000 

Total  
$’000 

Opening balance – 1 July 2010  130,413 130,413 
Losses recognised in the income statement  (3,604) (3,604) 
Gains recognised in other comprehensive income  5,522 5,522 
Sales  (14,928) (14,928) 
Other  1,769 1,769 
Closing balance - 30 June 2011  119,172 119,172 
Total losses for the year included in the income statement attributable to 
losses relating to assets held at the year end  (3,604) (3,604) 
 
During the current and prior years, there were no financial assets or liabilities which transferred between levels 1, 2 or 3.  

20 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
  Consolidated 
 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Net loss for the year  (3,903) (848) 
Adjustments for:    
Items classified as investing activities    
 Net gain on disposal of ASX listed and unlisted property trusts  (163) (4,159) 
Items classified as financing activities    

Capitalised interest repaid as part of debt  – 1,177 
Other    
 Capitalised borrowing costs  (199) (117) 
Non cash items    
 Impairment expense  9,877 5,442 
 Share of net loss of investment accounted for using the equity method  1,244 2,099 

Amortisation of capitalised borrowing costs  41 802 
Operating profit before changes in working capital  6,897 4,396 

Changes in assets and liabilities during the year:    
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  (206) 35 
Decrease in trade and other payables  (526) (669) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  6,165 3,762 
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21 Related parties 
Responsible Entity 
The Responsible Entity of the Fund is Brookfield Capital Management Limited. 

Key management personnel 
The Fund is required to have an incorporated Responsible Entity to manage the activities of the Fund and the Consolidated 
Entity.  The Directors of the Responsible Entity are Key Management Personnel of that entity.  

F. Allan McDonald (appointed 1 January 2010) 
Brian Motteram (appointed 21 February 2007) 
Barbara Ward (appointed 1 January 2010) 
Russell Proutt (appointed 1 January 2010) 
Shane Ross (appointed 16 May 2011) 

The Responsible Entity is entitled to a management fee which is calculated as a proportion of gross assets attributable to 
unitholders.  Refer below for further details related to the management fee and other fees the Responsible Entity is entitled to. 

No compensation is paid to any of the Key Management Personnel of the Responsible Entity directly by the Fund or 
Consolidated Entity. 

Directors’ interests 
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in the units, debentures, rights or options over such instruments, 
interests in registered schemes and rights or options over such instruments issued by the entities within the Consolidated 
Entity and other related bodies corporate as at the date of this report: 

Director 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund  

units held 
F. Allan McDonald  – 
Brian Motteram  1,645,516 
Barbara Ward  – 
Russell Proutt – 
Shane Ross –  

Responsible Entity’s fees and other transactions 
In accordance with the Fund Constitution, Brookfield Capital Management Limited is entitled to receive: 

Management fee 
A management fee based on gross value of assets is payable to the Responsible Entity.  The fee is payable by the 
Consolidated Entity quarterly in arrears. The management fee expense for the year ended 30 June 2012 was $672,000 (2011: 
$731,000). As at 30 June 2012, the management fee payable to the Responsible Entity was $160,000 (2011: $164,000).  

Performance Fee 
A performance fee is payable to the Responsible Entity if the benchmark is met. Refer to significant accounting policies (Note 
3(c)) for further details. During the current year and as at 30 June 2012, no performance fee has been paid or is payable (2011: 
nil). 

Parent entities 
The ultimate Australian parent of the Consolidated Entity is Brookfield Holdco (Australia) Pty Limited. The ultimate parent of the 
Consolidated Entity is Brookfield Asset Management Inc..  

Related party unitholders 
The following interests were held in the Consolidated Entity during the year: 
− Brookfield Capital Securities Limited, as trustee for Brookfield Multiplex PPF Investment No.2 Trust, holds 328,609,014 

units or 40.5% of the Fund at year end (2011: 328,609,014 units or 40.5%); 
− Brookfield Multiplex Capital Pty Ltd holds 9,737,640 units or 1.2% of the Fund at year end (2011: 9,737,640 units or 

1.2%); and 
− Multiplex APF Pty Ltd, as trustee for Multiplex APF Trust, holds 163,751,624 units or 20.2% of the Fund at year end (2011: 

163,751,624 units or 20.2%). 

JP Morgan Chase Bank N.A., as custodian for the Consolidated Entity, holds the following investments in related party entities 
at year end: 
− Multiplex European Property Fund – 12,750,050 units or 5.2% (2011: 12,750,050 or 5.2%); 
− Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund – 45,016,081 units or 20.6% (2011: 45,016,081 units or 20.6%); 
− Brookfield Prime Property Fund – 2,521,890 units or 5.1% of the Fund (2011: 2,521,890 units or 5.0%); and 
− Multiplex Development and Opportunity Fund – 9,320,388 units or 5.7% (2011: 9,320,388 units or 5.7%). 
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21 Related parties continued 
Related party unitholders continued 

 Consolidated 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Transactions with associates   
Equity accounted investment in MNZPF 25,142 25,997 
Transactions with the Responsible Entity   
Management fees 672 731 
Cost reimbursements 305 236 
Management fee payable 160 164 
Cost reimbursements payable 80 58 
Transactions with related parties of the Responsible Entity   
Distribution income   
- Brookfield Prime Property Fund 202 75 
- Multiplex European Property Fund 2,008 319 
Return of capital   
- Multiplex Development and Opportunity Fund 3,806 – 
Investments held (at fair value)   
- Multiplex Development and Opportunity Fund 3,816 7,705 
- Brookfield Prime Property Fund  10,466 8,297 
- Multiplex European Property Fund 995 2,295 
Distributions receivable   
- Brookfield Prime Property Fund 50 – 
- Multiplex European Property Fund – 80 
Consideration from disposal of units in MNZPF – 1,984 
Underwriting fee   
- Brookfield Capital Securities Ltd ATF Brookfield Multiplex PPF Investment No.2 Trust – 957  

Transactions with related parties are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions. Distributions paid by the 
Consolidated Entity to related party unitholders are made on the same terms and conditions applicable to all unitholders.  

Acquisition of MPIF assets 
During the year, the Directors of BCML, as Responsible Entity of the Fund, made a conditional offer to BCML, as responsible 
entity of MPIF, to buy 8 investments in unlisted property funds and 1 investment listed on the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now 
migrated to the National Stock Exchange of Australia) as held by MPIF. Following a unitholder vote on 22 November 2011, the 
offer was rejected by MPIF income unitholders and the assets remain with MPIF. 

22 Contingent liabilities and assets 
No contingent liabilities or assets existed at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011. 

23 Capital and other commitments 
The Consolidated Entity had no capital or other commitments at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011. 

24  Events subsequent to the reporting date 
The Directors of BCML, as responsible entity for the Fund today released in a Notice of Meeting and Explanatory 
Memorandum a proposal to sell assets of the Fund, to make a payment to unitholders of Multiplex Property Income Fund, to 
distribute assets to unitholders of the Fund and to delist and wind up the Fund. This proposal is subject to two resolutions that 
will be put to unitholders at a unitholder meeting on 24 September 2012. Full details are available within the Notice of Meeting 
and Explanatory Memorandum.  

Other than the above there are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial years. 
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Introduction 
The Directors of Brookfield Capital Management Limited (ABN 32 094 936 866), the Responsible Entity of Brookfield 
Australian Opportunities Fund (ARSN 104 341 988) (Fund), present their report together with the financial statements of the 
Standalone Entity, being the Fund and its subsidiaries except for the consolidated Multiplex Property Income Fund (MPIF) 
subsidiary which has not been consolidated but has been carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value (Standalone 
Entity), for the year ended 30 June 2012 and the Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. 

The Fund was constituted on 17 April 2003 and it was registered as a Managed Investment Scheme on 17 April 2003.  

Responsible Entity 
The Responsible Entity of the Fund is Brookfield Capital Management Limited (BCML). BCML became the Responsible Entity 
on 26 October 2007. The registered office and principal place of business of the Responsible Entity and the Fund is Level 
22, 135 King Street, Sydney NSW 2000.  

Directors 
The following persons were Directors of the Responsible Entity at any time during or since the end of the financial year: 

Name  Capacity 
F. Allan McDonald (appointed 1 January 2010) Non-Executive Independent Chairman 
Brian Motteram(appointed 21 February 2007) Non-Executive Independent Director  
Barbara Ward (appointed 1 January 2010) Non-Executive Independent Director 
Russell Proutt (appointed 1 January 2010) Executive Director 
Shane Ross (appointed 16 May 2011) Executive Director 
 
Principal activities 
The principal activity of the Standalone Entity is the investment in Australian Securities Exchange (ASX) listed and unlisted 
property securities in Australia. 

Review of operations 
The Standalone Entity has recorded a net profit of $786,000 for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2011: loss $2,104,000).  The 
reported net profit includes $3,125,000 (2011: $4,186,000) in impairment losses on the ASX listed and unlisted property 
securities portfolios and investment accounted for using the equity method. 

Some of the significant events during the year are as follows: 
− total revenue and other income of $9,754,000 (2011: $10,695,000); 
− earnings per unit (EPU) attributable to ordinary unitholders of $0.10 cents (2011: (0.30) cents); 
− net assets of $112,026,000 (2011: $109,526,000); 
− net assets per unit attributable to ordinary unitholders of $0.14 (2011: $0.13); 
− ASX listed portfolio value of $28,583,000 (2011: $26,531,000), including a net revaluation increment to reserves on a 

number of ASX listed investments of $2,264,000 (2011: $1,849,000) and an impairment charge of $454,000 (2011: 
$1,183,000); and  

− unlisted security portfolio value of $73,416,000 (2011: $86,632,000), including a net revaluation decrement to reserves 
on a number of unlisted investments of $675,000 (2011: $2,937,000 increment) and an impairment charge of 
$2,671,000 (2011: $2,410,00). 

Acquisition of MPIF assets 
During the year, the Directors of BCML, as Responsible Entity of the Fund, made a conditional offer to BCML, as responsible 
entity of MPIF to buy 8 investments in unlisted property funds and 1 investment listed on the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now 
migrated to the National Stock Exchange of Australia) as held by MPIF. Following a unitholder vote on 22 November 2011, 
the offer was rejected by MPIF income unitholders and the assets remain with MPIF.  

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
In the opinion of the Directors, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Standalone Entity that occurred 
during the financial year not otherwise disclosed in this report or in the financial statements. 

Events subsequent to the reporting date 
The Directors of BCML, as responsible entity for the Fund today released in a Notice of Meeting and Explanatory 
Memorandum a proposal to sell assets of the Fund, to make a payment to unitholders of Multiplex Property Income Fund, to 
distribute assets to unitholders of the Fund and to delist and wind up the Fund. This proposal is subject to two resolutions 
that will be put to unitholders at a unitholder meeting on 24 September 2012. Full details are available within the Notice of 
Meeting and Explanatory Memorandum.  
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Events subsequent to the reporting date continued 
Other than the above there are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Standalone Entity, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Standalone Entity in subsequent financial years. 

Likely developments 
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Standalone Entity in future financial years and the expected 
results of those operations has not been included in this report because the Directors believe that to do so would be likely to 
result in unreasonable prejudice to the Standalone Entity. 

Environmental regulation 
The Standalone Entity has systems in place to manage its environmental obligations. Based upon the results of enquiries 
made, the Responsible Entity is not aware of any significant breaches or non-compliance issues during the year covered by 
this report. 

Distributions 
During the current and prior years, no distributions were paid by the Fund to ordinary unitholders.  

Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditors 
BCML is a wholly owned subsidiary of Brookfield Australia Investments Limited (BAIL). BAIL has entered into deeds of 
access and indemnity with each of its Directors, Company Secretary and other nominated Officers. The terms of the deeds 
are in accordance with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001 and will indemnify these executives (to the extent 
permitted by law) for up to seven years after serving as an Officer against legal costs incurred in defending civil or criminal 
proceedings against the executives, except where proceedings result in unfavourable decisions against the executives, and 
in respect of reasonable legal costs incurred by the executives in good faith in obtaining legal advice in relation to any issue 
relating to the executives being an officer of the Brookfield Australia Investments Group (the Group), including BCML. 

Under the deeds of access and indemnity, BAIL has agreed to indemnify these persons (to the extent permitted by law) 
against: 
− liabilities incurred as a director or officer of BCML or a company in the Group, except for those liabilities incurred in 

relation to the matters set out in section 199A(2) of the Corporations Act 2001; and  
− reasonable legal costs incurred in defending an action for a liability or alleged liability as a director or officer, except for 

costs incurred in relation to the matters set out in section 199A(3) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

BAIL has also agreed to effect, maintain and pay the premium on a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policy. This 
obligation is satisfied by BAIL being able to rely upon Brookfield’s global directors’ and officers’ insurance policy, for which it 
pays a portion of the premium. 

As is usual, this policy has certain exclusions and therefore does not insure against liabilities arising out of matters including 
but not limited to: 
− fraudulent, dishonest or criminal acts or omissions and improper personal profit or advantage;  
− violation of US Securities Act of 1933; 
− losses for which coverage under a different kind of insurance policy is readily available such as, for example, liability 

insurance, employment practices liability and pollution liability (there can be limited coverage for some of these 
exposures); and  

− claims made by a major shareholder (threshold is ownership of 10% or greater). 

The obligation to effect, maintain and pay the premium on a policy continues for a period of seven years after the director or 
officer has left office to the extent such coverage is available with reasonable terms in the commercial insurance 
marketplace. 

Contract of insurance  
The Group has paid or agreed to pay a portion of the premium in respect of a contract taken out by Brookfield Asset 
Management Inc. insuring the Directors and officers of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and its subsidiaries, which include 
BCML, against a liability.  

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, 
indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of BCML or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred 
as such an officer or auditor. 
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  Standalone Entity 

 Note 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Revenue and other income    
Distribution income from ASX listed and unlisted property trusts  9,015 5,692 
Net gain on disposal of ASX listed and unlisted property trusts  162 3,793 
Interest income  577 1,210 
Total revenue and other income  9,754 10,695 

Expenses    
Share of net loss of investment accounted for using the equity method 4 1,214 2,047 
Impairment expense 6 3,125 4,186 
Finance costs to external parties  2,599 5,165 
Management fees  672 731 
Other expenses  1,358 670 
Total expenses  8,968 12,799 
Net profit/(loss) for the year  786  (2,104) 

Other comprehensive income    
Change in reserves of investment accounted for using the equity method  379  (1,325) 
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets  1,589 4,786 
Change in fair value of cash flow hedge  (254) – 
Other comprehensive income for the year  1,714 3,461 
Total comprehensive income for the year  2,500 1,357 
Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary unitholders  786 (2,104) 
Total comprehensive income attributable to unitholders  2,500 1,357 

 

Earnings per unit    
Basic and diluted earnings per ordinary unit (cents) 5 0.10 (0.30) 
 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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  Standalone Entity 

 Note 
          2012 

$’000 
          2011 

$’000 

Assets    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents  18,301 7,764 
Trade and other receivables  2,788 1,446 
Investments – available for sale 6 28,583 26,531 
Total current assets  49,672 35,741 

Non-current assets    
Investments – available for sale 6 73,416 86,632 
Investment accounted for using the equity method 4 24,513                25,347  
Total non-current assets  97,929 111,979 
Total assets  147,601 147,720 

Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables  479 1,094 
Total current liabilities  479 1,094 

Non-current liabilities    
Fair value of financial derivative 8 254 – 
Interest bearing liabilities 8 34,842 37,100 
Total non-current liabilities  35,096 37,100 
Total liabilities  35,575 38,194 
Net assets   112,026 109,526 

Equity    
Attributable to ordinary unitholders    

Units on issue – ordinary units 9 231,827 231,827 
Reserves 10 4,098 2,384 
Undistributed losses 11 (123,899)  (124,685) 

Total equity  112,026 109,526 
 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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Standalone Entity 

Ordinary 
units 

$’000 

Undistributed 
profits/(losses)   

$’000 
Reserves 

$’000 
Total 
$’000 

Opening equity – 1 July 2011 231,827 (124,685)  2,384  109,526 
Change in reserves of investment accounted 
for using the equity method – – 379  379  
Change in fair value of available for sale 
financial assets – – 1,589 1,589 
Change in the fair value of cash flow hedge – – (254) (254) 
Other comprehensive income for the year – – 1,714 1,714 
Net profit for the year – 786  – 786  
Total comprehensive income for the year – 786 1,714 2,500 

Transactions with unitholders in their capacity as unitholders:  
Units issued – – – – 
Total transactions with unitholders in their 
capacity as unitholders – – – – 
Closing equity – 30 June 2012 231,827 (123,899)  4,098 112,026 

 
 

  

Standalone Entity 

Ordinary  
units 

$’000 

Undistributed 
profits/(losses)   

$’000 
Reserves 

$’000 
Total 

$’000 

Opening equity – 1 July 2010 203,381 (122,581) (1,077) 79,723 
Change in reserves of investment accounted 
for using the equity method – – (1,325) (1,325) 
Change in fair value of available for sale 
financial assets – – 4,786 4,786 
Other comprehensive income for the year – – 3,461 3,461 
Net loss for the year – (2,104) – (2,104) 
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the 
year – (2,104) 3,461 1,357 

Transactions with unitholders in their capacity as unitholders:  
Units issued 28,446 –   –   28,446 
Total transactions with unitholders in their 
capacity as unitholders 28,446 – – 28,446 
Closing equity – 30 June 2011 231,827 (124,685) 2,384 109,526 

 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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  Standalone Entity 

 Note 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    
Cash receipts in the course of operations  8,869  5,733 
Cash payments in the course of operations  (2,047)  (2,731)   
Interest received  563     1,217   
Financing costs paid  (3,356)  (2,645) 
Net cash flows from operating activities 12 4,029  1,574 

Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for purchase of available for sale assets  (1,057)  (14,592) 
Proceeds from sale of available for sale assets and equity accounted 
investments and returns of capital  9,665  17,782 
Net cash flows from investing activities  8,608  3,190 

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of units  – 30,429 
Issue costs  –  (1,972) 
Repayments of interest bearing liabilities  (2,100)  (29,689) 
Net cash flows used in financing activities  (2,100)  (1,232) 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,537 3,532 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  7,764 4,232 
Cash and cash equivalents at 30 June   18,301 7,764 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.



Notes to the Financial Statement 11 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund (Standalone) 
For the year ended 30 June 2012 
 
 

Annual Financial Report 
30 June 2012 

 

1 Reporting entity 
Brookfield Australian Opportunities Fund (Fund) is an Australian registered managed investment scheme under the 
Corporations Act 2001.  Brookfield Capital Management Limited (BCML), the Responsible Entity of the Fund, is incorporated 
and domiciled in Australia. The financial statements of the Standalone Entity as at and for the year ended 30 June 2012 
comprise the Fund and its subsidiaries except for the consolidated Multiplex Property Income Fund (MPIF) subsidiary which 
has not been consolidated but has been carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value (Standalone Entity).  

2 Basis of preparation 
a Statement of compliance 
The standalone financial statements are special purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards (AASB) (including Australian interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB) with the exception of AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. AASB 127 has been 
adopted in the preparation of these financial statements, except for the consolidated MPIF subsidiary which has not been 
consolidated but has been carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on this 22nd day of August 2012. 

b Basis of measurement 
The standalone financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the following: 
− equity accounted investment, which is measured using the equity method; 
− available for sale financial assets, which are measured at fair value; 
− derivative financial instrument, which is measured at fair value; and 
− interest bearing liabilities, which are measured at amortised cost. 

The methods used to measure the above are discussed further in Note 3. 

The standalone financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Fund’s functional and presentation 
currency. 

The Standalone Entity is of a kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998 (updated by CO 05/641 
effective 28 July 2005 and CO 06/51 effective 31 January 2006), and in accordance with that Class Order, all financial 
information presented in Australian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

c Use of estimates and judgements 
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
application of accounting policies and the reported amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.  Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting 
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are provided in investments 
– available for sale (Note 6). 

3 Significant accounting policies 
The significant policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

a Principles of consolidation 
Subsidiaries 
The standalone financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Fund and its subsidiaries, excluding the 
consolidated subsidiary MPIF which is carried at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Control is achieved where the Fund 
has the power to govern the financial and operational policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Standalone Entity’s Statement of 
Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line 
with those used by the Standalone Entity. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in full in the standalone financial statements.   

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Standalone Entity’s equity therein.  The interests of 
non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate 
share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis.   
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
a    Principles of consolidation continued 
Subsidiaries continued 
Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 
recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.  Total comprehensive income is 
attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

Changes in the Standalone Entity’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity 
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Standalone Entity’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect 
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to 
unitholders. 

When the Standalone Entity loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between 
the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and the previous carrying 
amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or 
transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were 
disposed of.  The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as 
the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity. 

Associates 
Associates are all entities over which the group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. 

b Revenue recognition 
Revenues are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received for the sale of goods and services, net of the amount 
of Goods and Services Tax (GST), rebates and discounts. 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Standalone Entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured.  The following specific criteria for the major business activities must also be met before 
revenue is recognised.  Where amounts do not meet these recognition criteria, they are deferred and recognised in the period 
in which the recognition criteria are met. 

Dividends and distributions 
Revenue from dividends and distributions is recognised when the right of the Standalone Entity to receive payment is 
established, which is generally when they have been declared.   

Dividends and distributions received from associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment of the Consolidated Entity 
in that associate and are not recognised as revenue. 

Interest revenue  
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

Gains or losses on available for sale financial assets 
Listed and unlisted investments are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value, with any resulting gain or 
loss recognised directly in equity in the Statement of Financial Position, except for impairment losses, which are recognised 
directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Where these investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously recognised directly in equity in the Statement of Financial Position is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 

The fair value of listed investments is the quoted bid price at the period end date.  

c Expense recognition 
Finance costs 
Finance costs are recognised as expenses using the effective interest rate method, unless they relate to a qualifying asset, 
being an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale. Where a qualifying 
asset exists, borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of the qualifying asset 
is capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. 

Finance costs include: 
− interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings, including amounts paid or received on interest rate 

swaps;  
− amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings; 
− amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings; 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
c     Expense recognition continued 
Finance costs continued 
− finance lease charges; and 
− certain exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings. 

Management fees 
A base management fee calculated on the gross value of assets of the Consolidated Entity (being the Standalone Entity and 
the consolidated MPIF subsidiary) is payable to the Responsible Entity. The fee is payable by the Standalone Entity quarterly in 
arrears. 

Performance fee 
A performance fee of 20% of the outperformance of the Consolidated Entity against the benchmark return (S&P/ASX 200 
Property Accumulation Index) is recognised on an accruals basis.  Any previous underperformance must be recovered before 
a performance fee becomes payable. 

Other expenditure 
Expenses are recognised by the Standalone Entity on an accruals basis.  

d Goods and services tax (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). In these circumstances, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of the asset or as part of an expense item. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the Statement of Financial Position. 

Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. 

e Income tax – funds 
Under current income tax legislation, the Consolidated Entity is not liable for Australian income tax provided that the taxable 
income is fully distributed to unitholders each year.  The Consolidated Entity fully distributes its taxable income each year, 
calculated in accordance with the Trust Constitution and applicable legislation to unitholders who are presently entitled to 
income under the Constitution. The Fund had no taxable income. 

f Cash and cash equivalents 
For purposes of presentation in the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash balances, deposits at call with financial 
institutions and other highly liquid investments, with short periods to maturity, which are readily convertible to cash on hand 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

g Trade and other receivables 
Trade debtors and other receivables are stated at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any 
identified impairment losses. Impairment charges are brought to account as described in Note 3l. Non-current receivables are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

h Available for sale financial assets 
Listed and unlisted investments are classified as being available for sale.  Available for sale financial assets are initially 
recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at fair 
value, with any resulting gain or loss recognised directly in equity. Where there is evidence of impairment in the value of the 
investment, usually through adverse market conditions, the impairment loss will be recognised directly in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  Where listed and unlisted investments are derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised directly in equity is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

i Associates 
The Standalone Entity’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting in the standalone 
financial report. An associate is an entity in which the Standalone Entity has significant influence, but not control, over their 
financial and operating policies. 

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the standalone Statement of Financial Position at cost plus 
post-acquisition changes in the Standalone Entity’s share of net assets of the associates. After application of the equity 
method, the Standalone Entity determines whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to 
the Standalone Entity’s net investment in the associates. The standalone Statement of Comprehensive Income reflects the 
Standalone Entity’s share of the results of operations of the associates. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
i     Associates continued 
When the Standalone Entity’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the Standalone Entity’s carrying amount is 
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Standalone Entity has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an associate. 

Where there has been a change recognised directly in the associate’s equity, the Standalone Entity recognises its share of 
changes and discloses this in the standalone Statement of Changes in Equity. 

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the 
Standalone Entity’s interest in the associate. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to 
the extent that there is no evidence of impairment. Gains and losses are recognised when the contributed assets are 
consumed or sold by the associate. 

j Derivative financial instruments 
The Standalone Entity uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk from operational, 
financing and investment activities.  The Standalone Entity does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 
purposes. 

The Standalone Entity may designate certain hedging instruments, which includes derivatives, as cash flow hedges. At the 
inception of the hedge relationship, the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item will be documented, 
along with the risk management objectives and the strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The Standalone Entity 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in 
hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items. 

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated under the cash flow hedging reserve. The gain or 
loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to the income statement in the periods when the 
hedged item is recognised in the income statement.  

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Standalone Entity revokes the hedging relationship, when the hedging instrument 
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. For cash flow hedges, any 
gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no 
longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the income statement. 

k Non-derivative financial instruments 
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, interest bearing liabilities, and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at a fair value through profit or 
loss, any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured as described below. 

A financial instrument is recognised if the Standalone Entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
Financial assets are derecognised if the Standalone Entity’s contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire 
or if the Standalone Entity transfers the financial asset to another party without retaining control or substantially all risks and 
rewards of the asset.  Regular way purchase and sales of financial assets are accounted for at trade date, i.e. the date that the 
Standalone Entity commits itself to purchase or sell the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised if the Standalone Entity’s 
obligations specified in the contract expire or are discharged or cancelled. 

Accounting policies for cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, available for sale financial assets, trade and 
other payables and interest bearing liabilities are discussed elsewhere within the financial statements. 

Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses. 

l Impairment 
Financial assets 
A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 
effect on the estimated future cash flow of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.  An 
impairment loss in respect of an available for sale financial asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
l     Impairment continued 
Financial assets continued 
Significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an individual basis.  The remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics. 

All impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Any cumulative loss in respect of an 
available for sale financial asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised.  For financial assets measured at amortised cost and available for sale financial assets that are debt securities, the 
reversal is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  For available for sale financial assets that are equity 
securities, the reversal is recognised directly in equity. 

Non financial assets 
The carrying amount of the Standalone Entity’s non financial assets is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment.  If such indication exists then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.   

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indication that the loss has 
decreased or no longer exists.  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised. 

m Earnings per unit 
The Standalone Entity presents basic and diluted earnings per unit (EPU) data for all its ordinary unitholders. Basic EPU is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary unitholders of the Standalone Entity by the weighted average 
number of ordinary units outstanding during the period. Diluted EPU is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to 
ordinary unitholders and the weighted average number of ordinary units outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential 
ordinary units. 

n Trade and other payables 
Payables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method and represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Standalone Entity prior to the end of the financial period and which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured 
and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

o Interest bearing liabilities 
Interest bearing liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest bearing liabilities are stated at amortised cost with any difference between cost and redemption value 
being recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over the period of the borrowings on an effective interest rate 
basis. Interest bearing loans and borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Standalone Entity has an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability to at least 12 months after the year end. 

p Distributions 
A provision for distribution is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position if the distribution has been declared prior to 
period end. Distributions paid and payable on units are recognised as a reduction in equity. Distributions paid are included in 
cash flows from financing activities in the Statement of Cash Flows. 

q Units on issue 
Issued and paid up units are recognised as changes in equity at the fair value of the consideration received by the Standalone 
Entity, less any incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new units.  

r New standards and interpretations not yet adopted 
The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact the 
entity in the period of initial application.  They are available for early adoption at 30 June 2012 but have not been applied in 
preparing this financial report: 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 and 
AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) (effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 
and will replace the existing AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The standard is not applicable 
until 1 January 2013 but is available for early adoption. Under AASB 9, financial assets will be classified as subsequently 
measured at either amortised cost or fair value based on the objective of an entity’s business model for managing financial 
assets and the characteristics of the contractual cash flows. This will replace the categories of financial assets under AASB 
139, where each had its own classification criteria. For example, AASB 9 only permits the recognition of fair value gains and  
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3   Significant accounting policies continued 
r   New standards and interpretations not yet adopted continued  
losses in other comprehensive income if they relate to equity investments that are not held for trading and an irrevocable 
election is made upon initial recognition.  Fair value gains and losses on available-for-sale debt investments, for example, will 
therefore have to be recognised directly in the profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Financial assets may 
also be designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces certain 
inconsistencies. For financial liabilities, the new requirements under AASB 9 only affect the accounting for financial liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss. The Standalone Entity does not expect to adopt AASB 9 before its operative 
date and therefore will apply the new standard for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Standalone Entity is 
still assessing the consequential impact of the amendments. 
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, 
revised AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures and AASB 
2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards 
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
In August 2011, the AASB issued a suite of five new and amended standards which address the accounting for joint 
arrangements, consolidated financial statements and associated disclosures. 

AASB 10 replaces all of the guidance on control and consolidation in AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, and Interpretation 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity 
presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a single economic entity remains unchanged, as do the mechanics of 
consolidation. However, the standard introduces a single definition of control that applies to all entities, whereby an investor 
controls an investee only if the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Power is the current ability to direct the activities that 
significantly influence returns. Returns must vary and can be positive, negative or both. Control exists when the investor can 
use its power to affect the amount of its returns. There is also new guidance on participating and protective rights and on 
agent/principal relationships.  

AASB 11 introduces a principles based approach to accounting for joint arrangements. The focus is no longer on the legal 
structure of joint arrangements, but rather on how rights and obligations are shared by the parties to the joint arrangement. 
Based on the assessment of rights and obligations, a joint arrangement will be classified as either a joint operation or a joint 
venture. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, and the choice to proportionately consolidate will no longer 
be permitted. Parties to a joint operation will account their share of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities in much the same 
way as under the previous standard. AASB 11 also provides guidance for parties that participate in joint arrangements but do 
not share joint control. 

AASB 12 sets out the required disclosures for entities reporting under the two new standards, AASB 10 and AASB 11, and 
replaces the disclosure requirements currently found in AASB 127 and AASB 128. 

Amendments to AASB 128 provide clarification that an entity continues to apply the equity method and does not remeasure its 
retained interest as part of ownership changes where a joint venture becomes an associate, and vice versa. The amendments 
also introduce a “partial disposal” concept.  

The Standalone Entity does not expect to adopt the new standards and amendments before their operative date and therefore 
will apply the amendments for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Standalone Entity is still assessing the 
consequential impact of the new standards and amendments. 

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 
AASB 13 was released in September 2011 and sets out in a single standard a framework for measuring fair value, including 
related disclosure requirements in relation to fair value measurement. The Standalone Entity does not expect to adopt AASB 
13 before its operative date and therefore will apply the amendments for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. 
The Standalone Entity is still assessing the consequential impact of the new standard. 

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel Disclosure 
Requirements (effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013) 
The amendments from AASB 2011-4 remove the individual key management personnel disclosure requirements from AASB 
124 Related Party Disclosures, to achieve consistency with the international equivalent standard and remove a duplication of 
the requirements with the Corporations Act 2001. The Standalone Entity will adopt the amendments from AASB 2011-4 for 
the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2014. The Standalone Entity is still assessing the consequential impact of the 
amendments. 
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3    Significant accounting policies continued 
r     New standards and interpretations not yet adopted continued 
AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 
(effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012) 
The main change resulting from the amendments in AASB 2011-9 is a requirement for entities to group items presented in 
other comprehensive income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss in the future.  
The Standalone Entity does not expect to adopt AASB 2011-9 before its operative date and therefore will apply the 
amendments for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2013. The Standalone Entity is still assessing the consequential 
impact of the amendments. 

4 Investment accounted for using the equity method 
 Standalone Entity 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund 27,406 28,240 
Impairment (2,893)  (2,893) 
Total investment accounted for using the equity method 24,513 25,347 

Share of net loss from investments accounted for using the equity method:   
Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund (1,214)  (2,047) 

Summary financial information for equity accounted investee, not adjusted for the percentage ownership held by the 
Standalone Entity is detailed below. 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Current assets 106,181  26,477 
Non-current assets 254,405  344,206 
Total assets 360,586  370,683 
   
Current liabilities 224,228  26,568 
Non-current liabilities 12,002  215,617 
Total liabilities 236,230  242,185 
 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000  

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Revenues 41,806  49,125 
Expenses (43,889)  (68,176) 
Income tax (expense)/benefit (3,945)  8,614 
Net loss after income tax for the year (6,028)  (10,437) 

The Standalone Entity owns 20.1% of the ordinary units of Multiplex New Zealand Property Fund (MNZPF) (2011: 20.1%). 
This excludes the 0.5% owned by the consolidated MPIF subsidiary (2011: 0.5%) due to MPIF not being consolidated for the 
purposes of these standalone financial statements. In accordance with Australian accounting standards, the Standalone 
Entity has significant influence over MNZPF and accounts for its investment under the equity accounting method, whereby 
the Standalone Entity records its share of profit or loss of MNZPF’s operations. Any changes to the results and operations of 
the underlying investment are presented in the Standalone Entity’s financial report through the share of net profit or loss of 
investment accounted for using the equity method line item in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the carrying 
value of the investment accounted for using the equity method in the Statement of Financial Position. 

In the consolidated MPIF financial statements, MPIF’s investment in MNZPF is accounted for as an available for sale 
investment as MPIF does not have significant influence over MNZPF. 

In accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of assets, an assessment must be made at each reporting date whether there is 
any indication that an asset is impaired. A review of the equity accounted investment was performed at the reporting date and 
no further impairment against the equity accounted investment in MNZPF was required. This conclusion was reached upon 
assessment of the fair value less cost to sell of the equity accounted investment, to ensure the current carrying value does not 
exceed the recoverable amount (being the higher of fair value less cost to sell or value in use). The fair value less cost to sell  
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4  Investment accounted for using the equity method continued 
was determined based on the net tangible asset (NTA) of MNZPF, less estimated costs of disposal. The carrying amount of 
impairment on equity accounted investments in the Standalone Entity is detailed below. 
 
 

 Standalone Entity 
 
 
 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Impairment of investments in associates   
Carrying amount at the beginning of the year (2,893)  (2,456) 
Impairment recognised  –  (593) 
Reduction of impairment balance due to disposal of investments – 156 
Carrying amount at year end (2,893)  (2,893) 

5 Earnings per unit 
Classification of securities as ordinary units 
All securities have been classified as ordinary units and included in basic EPU, as they have the same entitlement to 
distributions. There are no dilutive potential ordinary units, therefore diluted EPU is the same as basic EPU. 

Earnings per unit 
Earnings per unit have been calculated in accordance with the accounting policy per Note 3m. 
 

 Standalone Entity 
 Year ended  

30 June 2012 
Year ended  

30 June 2011 

Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary unitholders $’000 786  (2,104) 
Weighted average number of ordinary units used in the  
calculation of basic and diluted EPU ’000 811,444 709,735 
Basic and diluted weighted earnings per ordinary unit  cents 0.10  (0.30) 

 

6 Investments – available for sale 
 

 Standalone Entity 

 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

ASX listed investments   
Carrying amount as at beginning of year 26,531  26,142  
Movement due to acquisitions, disposals and return of capital 242  (277) 
Changes in fair value recognised in reserves 2,264  1,849  
Impairments recognised during the year (454)  (1,183) 
Carrying amount at year end 28,583  26,531  

Unlisted investments   
Carrying amount as at beginning of year 86,632  97,611 
Movement due to acquisitions, disposals and return of capital (9,870)  (11,506) 
Changes in fair value recognised in reserves (675) 2,937 
Impairments recognised during the year (2,671)  (2,410) 
Carrying amount at year end 73,416  86,632 
Total investments - available for sale 101,999  113,163 
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6  Investments – available for sale continued  
Impairment 
During the year, the Standalone Entity recognised an impairment loss in accordance with accounting standards of $3,125,000 
in relation to its available for sale investments (2011: $3,593,000). 

The impairment loss recognised in relation to available for sale investments represents the difference between the cost of the 
investments and their market value as at 30 June 2012, less any previously recorded impairment losses and reductions to 
accumulated reserves.  

The Responsible Entity has determined there is objective evidence at the date of this report that the value of the Standalone 
Entity’s ASX listed and unlisted property trust investments are impaired. This determination has arisen due to the significant 
and prolonged decline in value of some ASX listed and unlisted property trusts and market conditions within the property 
sector generally. 

Investments in ASX listed property securities 
The investments held in ASX listed investments are classified as current assets on the statement of financial position. As noted 
in the events subsequent to the reporting date (note 16), the Responsible Entity has put a proposal to investors that would 
result in the substantial liquidation of the ASX listed portfolio within the year.  

Investments in unlisted property securities 
The Standalone Entity invests directly in 24 unlisted property securities funds. Due to a lack of liquidity in the underlying 
investment portfolios, or due to the initial structure of the fund as detailed in their original product disclosure statements and 
constitutions, 3 have suspended redemptions, 16 have always been closed to redemptions due to the investment structure as 
outlined in their original constitutions, 2 investments were listed on the ASX but are now deemed insolvent and 3 have limited 
liquidity features meaning that the Standalone Entity, should it want to, has limited ability to realise these investments due to 
limited or no redemption options available through these structures.    
Consistent with 30 June 2011, the Standalone Entity has generally valued its investments in each of the underlying unlisted 
property securities funds based on the net asset value provided as at 30 June 2012, or where this has not been provided, the 
latest available net asset value. In circumstances where the latest available net asset value has not been obtained, an 
assessment of the appropriateness of the value has been made based on knowledge of valuation and transactional 
movements in the underlying investment’s structure as compared to similar portfolios. Although the Directors of the 
Responsible Entity consider this value to represent fair value as at the reporting date, uncertainty exists as to the likely unit 
price of each of the unlisted property securities funds when these funds re-commence acceptance of redemptions. 

 Fund 

 
2012 

Ownership % 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

Ownership % 
2011 

$’000 

7 Investment in controlled entities     
Multiplex Property Income Fund – ordinary units 100 30,076 100 30,076 
Provision for impairment  (30,076)  (30,076) 
Carrying amount – Multiplex Property Income Fund  –   –  
BAO Trust (formerly MPF investment No.1 Trust)  100 8,137 100 8,137 
Carrying amount – BAO Trust  8,137  8,137 
Total investment in controlled entities  8,137  8,137 

The Fund owns 30,075,871, or 100%, of the ordinary units in MPIF, which has not been consolidated but has been carried at 
the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
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8 Interest bearing liabilities 
 Standalone Entity 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Non-current   
Secured bank debt 35,000 37,100 
Debt establishment fees (158) – 
Total interest bearing liabilities - non-current 34,842 37,100 
Total interest bearing liabilities 34,842 37,100 
 
 

 Standalone Entity 

Expiry Date 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Finance arrangements   
Facilities available   
Bank debt facility                                                                                 16 November 2014 35,000 – 
Bank debt facility                                                                                   1 December 2012 – 37,100 
Investment facility                                                                                           1 June 2013 20,000 20,000 
Less: Facilities utilised (35,000)  (37,100) 
Facilities not utilised 20,000 20,000 
 
Refinance of debt  
During the year, the Fund refinanced its existing debt facility, which was due to expire in December 2012. Key terms of the 
new debt facility are as follows: 
- Facility limit of $35 million, with maturity in November 2014 and subject to terms including the following financial 

covenants: 
o Loan to Value Ratio limit at 30%; and 
o Interest Cover Ratio is at least 1.60. 

- Margin of 3% per annum over BBSY. 

New interest rate swap 
During the year, the Fund has entered into an interest rate swap for a two year period to hedge $26.25 million (75% of the 
facility limit) at a fixed rate of 3.75% resulting in an effective rate of 6.75% for the hedged amount for the two year period. The 
table below summarises the positions for 30 June 2012.  

  Floating rate Fixed rate Notional amount 

Fair value of interest 

rate swaps 

Expiry date 

Underlying 

instrument 

2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 

% % % % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

21 November 2013 Floating to fixed 3.66 – 3.75 – 26,250 – (254)       – 

Investment facility 
A wholly owned subsidiary of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. has provided a $20 million Investment Facility to fund 
investments by the Fund. The Investment Facility has a maturity date of 1 June 2013. Further details have been provided in the 
Fund’s Rights Issue Offer Booklet issued 28 July 2010. At 30 June 2012 the facility remains undrawn (30 June 2011: 
undrawn).  
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9 Units on issue 

 
 Year ended 

30 June 2012 
$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

Units 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

Units 

Ordinary units     
Opening balance 231,827 811,443,720 203,381 202,860,930 
Issue of units – – 30,429 608,582,790 
Unit issue costs –  – (1,983) – 
Closing balance – ordinary units 231,827 811,443,720 231,827 811,443,720 

The above ordinary units represent the ordinary units of the Standalone Entity and the Fund.  

In accordance with the Fund’s Constitution, each unitholder is entitled to receive distributions as declared from time to time 
and is entitled to one vote per unit at unitholder meetings. In accordance with the Fund’s Constitution, each unit represents a 
right to an individual share in the Fund and does not extend to a right to the underlying assets of the Fund. 

10 Reserves 
Reserves 

 Standalone Entity 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Available for sale reserve 14,413 12,824 
Foreign currency translation reserve (10,061) (10,440) 
Cash flow hedge reserve (254)  – 
Total reserves 4,098 2,384 

Available for sale reserve 
 Standalone Entity 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance 12,824 8,038 
Fair value movement in relation to unlisted investments (675) 2,937 
Fair value movement in relation to listed investments 2,264 1,849 
Closing balance 14,413 12,824 

Foreign currency translation reserve 
 Standalone Entity 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance (10,440)  (9,115) 
Share of associate’s reserves 379  (1,325) 
Closing balance (10,061)  (10,440) 

Cash flow hedge reserve 
 Standalone Entity 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance – – 
Movement in cash flow hedge reserve (254) – 
Closing balance (254) – 
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11 Undistributed losses 
 Standalone Entity 

 

Year ended  
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended  
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Opening balance (124,685)  (122,581) 
Net profit/(loss) 786  (2,104) 
Closing balance (123,899)  (124,685) 

12 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities 
  Standalone Entity 
 

 

Year ended 
30 June 2012 

$’000 

Year ended 
30 June 2011 

$’000 

Net profit/(loss) for the year  786  (2,104) 
Adjustments for:    
Items classified as investing activities    
 Net gain on disposal of ASX listed and unlisted property trusts  (162)  (3,793) 
Items classified as financing activities 

Capitalised interest repaid as part of debt  – 1,177 
Other    
 Capitalised borrowing costs  (199)  (117) 
Non cash items    
 Impairment expense  3,125 4,186 
 Share of net loss of investment accounted for using the equity method  1,214 2,047 

Amortisation of capitalised borrowing costs  41 802 
Operating profit before changes in working capital  4,805 2,198 

Changes in assets and liabilities during the year:    
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables  (161) 46 
Decrease in trade and other payables  (615)  (670) 
Net cash flows from operating activities  4,029 1,574 

13 Related parties 
Management fee 
A management fee based on gross value of assets of the Consolidated Entity (being the Standalone Entity, the consolidated 
MPIF subsidiary and MPIF’s share of interest in associate) is payable to the Responsible Entity. The fee is payable by the 
Standalone Entity quarterly in arrears. The management fee expense for the year ended 30 June 2012 was $672,000 (2011: 
$731,000). As at 30 June 2012, the management fee payable to the Responsible Entity was $160,000 (2011: $164,000). 

Performance Fee 
A performance fee is payable if the benchmark is met. Refer to significant accounting policies (Note 3(c)) for further details. 
During the current year and as at 30 June 2012, no performance fee has been paid or is payable (2011: nil) 
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13    Related parties continued 
 

 Standalone Entity 

 
2012 

$’000 
2011 

$’000 

Transactions with associates   
Equity accounted investment in MNZPF 24,513 25,347 
Transactions with the Responsible Entity   
Management fees 672  731 
Cost reimbursements 192 236 
Management fee payable 160 164 
Cost reimbursements payable 52 58 
Transactions with related parties of the Responsible Entity   
Distribution income   
- Brookfield Prime Property Fund  202 75 
- Multiplex European Property Fund 2,008 319 
Return of capital   
- Multiplex Development and Opportunity Fund 3,806 – 
Investments held (at fair value)   
- Multiplex Development and Opportunity Fund 3,816 7,705 
- Brookfield Prime Property Fund  10,466 8,297 
- Multiplex European Property Fund 995 2,295 
Distributions receivable   
- Brookfield Prime Property Fund 50 – 
- Multiplex European Property Fund – 80 
Consideration from disposal of units in MNZPF – 1,934 
Underwriting fee   
- Brookfield Multiplex Capital Securities Ltd ATF Brookfield Multiplex PPF Investment 
No.2 Trust – 957 

Transactions with related parties are conducted on normal commercial terms and conditions. Distributions paid by the 
Standalone Entity to related party unitholders are made on the same terms and conditions applicable to all unitholders.  

Acquisition of MPIF assets 
During the year, the Directors of BCML, as Responsible Entity of the Fund, made a conditional offer to BCML, as responsible 
entity of MPIF, to buy 8 investments in unlisted property funds and 1 investment listed on the Bendigo Stock Exchange (now 
migrated to the National Stock Exchange of Australia) as held by MPIF. Following a unitholder vote on 22 November 2011, the 
offer was rejected by MPIF income unitholders and the assets remain with MPIF. 

14 Contingent liabilities and assets 
No contingent liabilities or assets existed at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011. 

15 Capital and other commitments 
The Standalone Entity had no capital or other commitments at 30 June 2012 or 30 June 2011. 

16 Events subsequent to the reporting date 
The Directors of BCML, as responsible entity for the Fund today released in a Notice of Meeting and Explanatory 
Memorandum a proposal to sell assets of the Fund, to make a payment to unitholders of Multiplex Property Income Fund, to 
distribute assets to unitholders of the Fund and to delist and wind up the Fund. This proposal is subject to two resolutions that 
will be put to unitholders at a unitholder meeting on 24 September 2012. Full details are available within the Notice of Meeting 
and Explanatory Memorandum.  

Other than the above there are no matters or circumstances which have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Standalone Entity, the results of those operations, or the 
state of affairs of the Standalone Entity in subsequent financial years. 
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